# JOURNAL of FOOD SCIENCE and TECHNOLOGY

## Silver Jubilee Pear



ASSOCIATION OF FOOD SCIENTISTS & TECHNOLOGISTS, INDIA

VOL. 19 NO. 3

MAY/JUNE 1982

#### 

## ASSOCIATION OF FOOD SCIENTISTS AND TECHNOLOGISTS

#### (INDIA)

The Association is a professional and educational organization of Food Scientists and Technologists

#### AFFILIATED TO THE INSTITUTE OF FOOD TECHNOLOGISTS, USA

#### **Objects:**

- 1. To stimulate research on various aspects of Food Science and Technology.
- 2. To provide a forum for the exchange, discussion and dissemination of current developments in the field of Food Science and Technology.
- 3. To promote the profession of Food Science and Technology.

The ultimate object is to serve humanity through better food.

#### Major Activities:

- 1. Publication of Journal of Food Science and Technology-bi-monthly and Indian Food Industry, (quarterly) (IFI).
- 2. Arranging lectures and seminars for the benefit of members.
- 3. Holding symposia on different aspects of Food Science and Technology.

#### Membership:

Membership is open to graduates and diploma holders in Food Science and Technology, and to those engaged in the profession. All the members will receive Journal of Food Science and Technology, published by the Association. The Chapters of the Association are situated at Bangalore, Bombay, Calcutta, Delhi, Hyderabad, Karnal, Ludhiana, Madras, Nagpur, Parbhani, Poona, Palayamkottai and Trivandrum.

Membership Fee			Admission Fee	Annual Subscription		
Life Member	Rs	300	Rs 2	for each Journal		
Life Member (Resident Abroad)	\$	150	<b>\$</b> 1	Inland Rs 100		
Corporate Member	Rs	300	Rs 5	Foreign:		
Member	Rs	20	Rs 2	Surface Mail \$ 30		
Member (Resident Abroad)	\$	10	<b>\$</b> 1	Air Mail \$ 50		
Affiliate Member	Rs	30	<b>Rs</b> 2	For IFI		
Student Member	Rs	10	<b>Re</b> 1	Association members		
				Indian Rs. 20		

For membership and other particulars kindly address

Foreign

\$

The Hongrary Executive Secretary

Association of Food Scientists and Technologists, India

Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570 013, India

Editor

R. Radhakrishna Murthy

Associate Editors

- A. S. Aiyar
- B. R. Baliga
- N. Chandrasekhara
- K. A. Ranganath
- S. Ranganna
- T. N. Ramachandra Rao
- T. R. Sharma
- V. Sreenivasa Murthy

#### **Executive Editor**

Y. S. Lewis

The Journal of Food Science and Technology is a bimonthly publication of the Association of Food Scientists and Technologists, India (AFST) issued in February, April, June, August, October and December.

The Editor assumes no responsibility for the statements and opinions expressed by the contributors.

Manuscripts for publication and books for reviewing in the Journal should be addressed to the Editor, Journal of Food Science and Technology, AFST, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570013. The Editor reserves the privilege of editing the manuscript to make it suitable for publication in the Journal.

No part of this journal can be reproduced by any body without written permission of the Editor.

Correspondence regarding subscriptions and advertisements should be addressed to the Executive Secretary, AFST, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570013, India Payment may be made by cheque, draft, postal or money order in favour of Exec. Secretary, AFST.

Executives of the AFST

#### President

M. K. Panduranga Setty

#### Vice-Presidents

M. S. Narasinga Rao J. C. Anand B. S. Bhatia R. Jayaram B. P. N. Singh

Exec. Secretary P. Narasimham

Joint Secretary L. V. Venkataraman

Treasurer D. Narasimha Rao

## JOURNAL OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Volume 19

Number 3

May/June 1982

97

110

#### CONTENTS

#### **Research Papers**

Che	mical Constituents	of	Kok	am Fru	it Rir	ıd		
Ν.	Krishnamurthy,	Υ.	<i>S</i> .	Lewis	and	<b>B</b> .	Ravindranath	

Biochemical Changes Associated with the Pod Development of French Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) under Kumaon Hill Conditions 100 P. C. Pant and K. N. Mathpal

A Method for Measuring the Firmness of Cooked Soyabean (Glycine max) 104 H. P. S. Makkar, O. P. Sharma and S. S. Negi

Breakage of Rice during Milling 1. Types of Cracked and Immature Grains 106 Y. M. Indudhara Swamy and K. R. Bhattacharya

Component Acids of Some Ornamental Seed Oils C. D. Daulatabad, R. F. Ankalgi and J. S. Kulkarni

Minor Seed Oils.I. Component Fatty Acids of Some Seed Oils112C. D. Daulatabad and R. F. Ankalagi

A Study on Seliwanoff Colour Reaction for Estimation of Sucrose in Dairy Products 113 P. C. Pantulu, V. Unnikrishnan and M. K. Rama Murthy

Studies on the Production of Kulfi Part—I. The Acceptable Level of Total Milk Solids 116 Salooja, M. K. and Balachandran, R.

A Study on the Bionomics of Major Insect Species Infesting Cashew Kernels 118 S. P. Pillai and M. Muthu

#### **Research** Notes

Biochemical Effects of Rape Seed Meal in Albino Rats S. K. Garg, A. K. Sharma, L. Singh and J. S. Uppal

14. A.S. 2525

Studies on the Nutritional Quality of Some Varieties of Mung Bean (Vigna radiata) 12								
D. R. Sood, D. S. Wagle and Kuddip Singh Dhindsa								
Breakage of Rice during Milling 4. Effect of Kernel Chalkiness								
Y. M. Indudhara Swamy and K. R. Bhattacharya								
Effect of Degumming on Keeping Quality and Refinability of Indigenous Soybean Oil	126							
T. Lakshminorayana, G. Azeemoddin, D. Atchyuta Ramayyo and S. D. Thirumala Rao								

Quantification of Cholinesterase Inhibition on TLC Plate for Estimation of Fenitrothion 127 S. Udaya Bhaskar, N. V. Nandakumar, G. S. Raju, K. Visweswaraiah and S. K. Majumder

**Book Reviews** 

ANNOUNCEMENT

#### JOURNAL OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

In view of the high increases in production costs, we have been forced to increase the subscription rates from Volume 19, 1982.

The new rates are given on inside front cover and are operative from January 1982. Membership rates are not increased. Subscribers are requested to renew their subscriptions for 1982 at the new rates and cooperate.

Hony. Secretary

### Chemical Constituents of Kokam Fruit Rind

N. KRISHNAMURTHY, Y. S. LEWIS AND B. RAVINDRANATH Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore, India

Manuscript received 17 July 1981; revised 24 September 1981

Chemical investigation of the kokam fruit rind revealed the presence of (-) hydroxycitric acid, cyanidin-3-glucoside and cyanidin-3-sambubioside. Their isolation, identification and determination as well as the proximate composition of kokam are described.

Kokam (Garcinia indica: family: Guttiferae) trees are found in the tropical rain forests of western ghats from Konkan southwards in Karnataka, Coorg and Wynaad, and also in southern parts of Maharashtra as well as in West Bengal and Assam. The tree flowers in November–February and fruits ripen in April–May. The kokam of commerce is prepared by sun-drying the rind (skin) of the ripe fruits after repeatedly soaking it in the juice of the pulp<sup>1,2</sup> and sometimes after treatment with salt (salted kokam). The fresh rind is somewhat thick and red (dark purple) in colour and constitutes about 50–55% of the whole fruit. The fruit has an agreeable flavour and a sweetish acid taste.

Kokam has been traditionally used as an acidulant. It is also used to make an attractive red, pleasantflavoured extract for use as a beverage. The kokam fruit is anthelmintic and cardiotonic, and is used in treatment of piles, dysentry, tumours, pains and heart complaints. A syrup from the fruit juice is given in bilious affections. The root is astringent.<sup>3</sup> Kokam seed is a good source of fat which is known as 'Kokam butter' in commerce. The characteristics and composition of kokam butter are given by Jamieson<sup>4</sup>.

Detailed chemical investigation of kokam fruit has not been carried out earlier. We have recently isolated and determined the structures of two new polyisoprenylated phenolic compounds, garcinol and iso-garcinol present in the hexane extract of the fruit rind<sup>5</sup>. The isolation and identification of the acid and anthocyanin pigments of kokam are reported here.

#### Materials and Methods

Red ripe fruits obtained from an orchard near Mangalore are used in these studies. The rind was separated from the rest of the fruit and dried in a cross flow drier at 60°C. This dried material was used for analysis of the proximate principles by standard A.O.A.C. methods.<sup>6</sup> The acid in the fruit was estimated by titrating against 0.1 N sodium hydroxide using phenolphthalein as indicator and calculated as hydroxycitric acid. Ascorbic acid was determined by using the xylene extraction method<sup>7</sup>. Pectin was estimated as calcium pectate<sup>8</sup>.

Isolation of hydroxycitric acid: The dried kokam was cut into small bits and subjected to solvent extraction for 16 hr with acetone. The dark brown extract was concentrated to remove the solvent and the residue was treated with water and centrifuged. The clear upper layer was decanted from the dark tarry deposit and concentrated under vacuum. The concentrate was repeatedly extracted with ethyl ether and the combined ether extract treated with activated carbon to remove the colouring matter. The ether layer was dried over anhydrous sodium sulphate and concentrated. The crude crystalline material thus obtained was purified by recrystallisation from dry ether-chloroform mixture (1 : 3). After cooling, clusters of small needle shaped crystals of the lactone were obtained; the acid itself could not be obtained as it underwent lactonisation during concentration.

The lactone was converted into acid by dissolving it in water and then neutralising with alkali. This material was passed through cation-exchange resin (Zeocarb-215) for recovery of acid.

The melting point of the lactone was determined by using Gallenkamp melting point apparatus and the optical rotation by Perkin-Elmer Autopolarimeter 243. Infra-red spectrum was recorded on Hilger-Watts Spectrometer as KBr pellet. Ascending paper chromatography on Whatman No. 1 paper using n-butanol: acetic acid: water (BAW) 4 : 1 : 5 and n-butanol: formic acid: water (BFW) 4 : 1 : 5 solvents was carried out. Bromophenol blue spray was used for the detection of spots. In all these experiments, the acid obtained from *Garcinic cambogia*<sup>9</sup> was used as standard reference.

Isolation of pigment: Fresh red ripe fruits were used for isolation, identification and estimation of the pigment. The rind portion was separated from the rest of the fruit and was macerated in a blender using methanol containing 1% HCl. The maceration and extraction procedures were repeated three times. The extracts were combined, filtered and concentrated in vacuo at 30°C.

The concentrated pigment extract was streaked on Whatman No. 3 paper and developed by descending chromatography using acetic acid: HCl: water (15:3:82) solvent system. The solvent was allowed to over-run to achieve good separation in 6 hrs. Two clear bands designated as  $B_1$  and  $B_2$ , were obtained which were air dried, cut and eluted with methanol containing 0.01% HCl. The solvent was evaporated *in vacuo* at 30°C. Each band was further purified by paper chromatography using 15% acet.c acid. The pigments from the dried, cut strips were conveniently eluted by Gunter Zweig method<sup>10</sup>.

UV and visible spectra were recorded on a Varian Superscan-3 Recording Spectrometer, in methanol containing 0.01% HCl.  $R_f$  determinations were carried out by using Whatman No. 1 paper in specified solvent systems.<sup>11</sup>

Hydrolysis of anthocyanin pigments were carried out by heating with 2N HCl in boiling water bath for 1 hr. After cooling, the hydrolysate was first shaken with solvent ether (to zemove any carboxylic acid) and then with iso-amyl alcohol to extract anthocyanidins. The aqueous layer containing only free sugars was freed from acd by passing through Dowex-1-hydroxyl form. The amyl-alcohol layer containing the aglycones was treated with slight excess of petroleum ether to precipitate the pigments and left overnight in the refrigerator. The petroleum ether layer was decanted and the pigment dissolved in methanol for use in further studies. The aglycones and the sugars were then identified by direct comparison with authentic samples on paper chromatography in various solvent systems<sup>11,12</sup>.

Removal of sugars attached to the 3-position of the anthocyanin  $B_2$  by hydrogen peroxide oxidation, and subsequent hydrolysis were carried out according to the method of Chandler and Harper.<sup>13</sup> The sample after hydrolysis was then spotted on paper along with glucose and the disaccharide (sambubiose) from cyanidin-3-sambubioside (obtained from *Hibiscus* sabdariffa) in different solvent systems. The  $R_G$ values for the disaccharide as well as sambubiose were determined in various solvent systems.<sup>14</sup> The sugar spots were detected by spraying the paper with aniline hydrogen phthalate and heating at 105°C for 5 min.

The total anthocyanin content in kokam rind was estimated by the method of Fuleki et al.15 The extinction co-efficient of cyanidin-3-sambubioside was determined as follows. The fast moving band  $B_2$ obtained from the paper chromatograms was collected and concentrated in vacuo at 30°C to a small volume. This material was kept at 4°C for 72 hrs, when the crystalline pigment got separated. This crystalline material was filtered and dried over phosphorous pentoxide. The E value of this for 1% solution (in ethanol containing 0.1% HCl) at 536 nm was found to be 383. Total anthocyanins were determined using 50g of fresh kokam by thoroughly extracting with ethanol containing 0.1% HCl, suitably diluting with the same solvent and determining O.D. at 536 nm.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Table 1 gives the composition of the rind. Though the moisture content in the rind is as high as 30 per cent, it did not get spoiled probably due to the high acid content in the skin. The rind is a poor source of protein and vitamin C.

The major acid present in kokam rind has been identified as (-) hydroxycitric acid based on melting point, optical rotation, infrared spectroscopy and paper chromatographic studies. Results are given in Table 2. Hydroxycitric acid obtained earlier from *Garcinia cambogia* by Lewis *et al*<sup>9</sup>. was used as reference material. The IR spectra of kokam lactone and (-) hydrocitric acid lactone were superimposable. Malic acid, citric acid and tartaric acid reported to be present in kokam<sup>1</sup> could not be traced.

TABLE 1.	ANALYSIS	OF	KOKAM	RIND*
----------	----------	----	-------	-------

Moisture (%)						30
Protein (N×6.25)	(%)					1.92
Crude fibre (%)	••			• •		14.28
Total ash (%)						2.57
Tannins (%)			• •		••	2.85
Pectin (%)			••			5.71
Starch (%)						1.00
Crude fat (%) (h	exanc e	extract)	••			10.00
Acid (as hydroxyd	citric ac	id) (%)				22.80
Pigment (total and	thocyan	ins) (%)				2.40
Ascorbic acid (%	)					0.06
Carbohydrates by	diff. (	%)				
(excluding starcl	h and	pectin)	•••	• •	••	36.40

•All the values are on moisture free basis and each is the mean of two analyses.

Property	Kokam acid	(–)hydroxycitrie acid		
M. P. (Lactone)	176°C	178°C		
$(\ll) \frac{20}{D}$ (1% H <sub>2</sub> O) (Lactone)	+100°	+98°		
$(\ll) \frac{20}{D}$ (1% H <sub>2</sub> O) (Free acid)	- 20 <sup>°</sup>	- 21°		
Paper chromatography:				
R <sub>f</sub> values in				
BAW-acid	0.30	0.32		
lactore	0.48	0.46		
BFW—acid	0.22	0.22		
lactone	0.41	0.40		

TABLE 2. COMPARISON OF KOKAM ACID WITH HYDROXYCITRIC ACID

Paper chromatography of the kokam pigment extract showed two anthocyanin bands. The slower moving band was designated as  $B_1$  and the other  $B_2$ .

Anthocyanin  $B_1$ : This compound on hydrolysis gave cyanidin and glucose. The ether extract of the hydrolysate did not contain any carboxylic acid. The UV spectral maximum (527 nm) of the glycoside shifted to 567 nm with aluminium chloride indicating that the 3'-and 4'-hydroxyl groups of the cyanidin are free. The E 440/E max. value (0.26) showed that the 5-hydroxyl is also free. Of the other two possibilities, namely 3-and 7-glycosylations, the former is indicated by the stability and  $R_f$  values of the anthocyanin<sup>12</sup> (Table 3). This was confirmed by direct comparison with a sample of cyanidin-3-glucoside obtained from mulberry.<sup>16</sup> Thus the pigment is identified as cyanidin-3-glucoside.

Anthocyanin  $B_2$ : This anthocyanin on complete hydrolysis gave cyanidin, glucose and xylose. The ether extract of the hydrolysate did not contain any carboxylic acid. The spectral data as discussed above suggested that  $\mathbf{B}_2$  is a 3-substituted glycoside of cyanidin. Hydrogen peroxide hydrolysis removed the disaccharide from the pigment which on further acid hydrolysis gave glucose and xylose. The  $R_G$  values for the disaccharide as well as sambubiose were 0.76 in nbutanol: acetic acid: water (4:1:5), 0.79 in n-butanol: ethanol: water (4:2:2:2) and 0.70 in n-butanol: benzene: pyridine: water (5:1:3:3). Anthocyanin B<sub>2</sub> was therefore, considered to be cyanidin-3-sambubioside. Direct comparison of  $R_f$  values and spectral data of the compound  $B_2$  with authentic cyanidin-3-sambubioside isolated from Roselle<sup>16</sup>, confirmed that the pigment is cyanidin-3-sambubioside (Table 3).

The total anthocyanin concentration has been found to be 2.4% (calculated as cyanidin-3-sambubioside) on dry weight basis. The ratio of cyanidin-3-sambubioside to cyanidin-3-glucoside is 4 : 1. In view of the high pigment content, kokam could be a good source of the water soluble red colour as well as the fat soluble yellow colour (garcinol) for use in various foods. Preliminary studies in this direction are promising and further work is in progress.

		)	_					
Pigment	n-butanol: acetic acid: water: (upper layer) (4:1:5 v/v)	n-butanol: 2 N HCl (1 : 1 v/v)	HC1: water (3 : 97 v/v)	Acetic acid: HCI: water (15 : 3 : 82 v/v)	n-butanol: formic acid: + water $R_{Cy 3G} \times 100^{*}$ (100:25:60)	Acetic acid: HCI: water (30 : 3 : 10 v/v)	Formic acid: HCl:water (5:2:3 v/v)	Absorption max. in metha- nol with 0.01% HCl (nm)
Anthocyanin-B <sub>1</sub>	42	33	7	27	101	_	_	527,330,280
Cyanidin-3-glucoside	42	33	8	28	100	_	_	526,328,281
Anthocyanin-B <sub>2</sub>	41	39	25	52	82	·	_	527,330,281
Cy-3-sambubioside	40	41	24	52	81	_	_	527,330(sh), 280
Aglycone-B <sub>1</sub>	72			·		49	21	537,272
Aglycone-B <sub>2</sub>	74	—	_	_		50	24	537,275
Cyanidin	76		-	-		52	24	537,278

Table 3.  $R_f$  ( $\times$ 100) values and absorption maxima of anthocyanins and their aglycones

 $R_{Cy 3G}$  is chromatographic mobility relative to cyanidin-3-glucoside and is used with BFW.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to Sri N. V. Sripathy, Project Co-ordinator, CFTRI experiment station, Mangalore for the supply of the raw material and Sri C. P. Natarajan, Director, CFTRI, Mysore, for encouragement and support.

#### References

- 1. The Wealth of India-Raw Materials. Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, New Delhi, India, 1956, Vol. 4, 102.
- Muralidhara, H. G., Raw materials survey of resources and newer sources of Fats and Oils—Kokam; in *Proceedings* of the Symposium on Fats and Oils in Relation to Food Products and their Preparations. AFST, CFTRI, Mysore June 1976, 30.
- Kirtikar, K. R. and Basu, B. D., Indian Medicinal Plants, published by Basu, L. M. Allahabad, India, 1935, Vol. 1, 263.
- 4. Jamieson, G. S., Vegetable Fats and Oils. Reinhold publishing Corporation, New York, 2nd Edn. 1943, 87.
- 5. Krishnamurthy, N., Lewis, Y. S., and Ravindranath, B., On the structures of garcinol, isogarcinol and camboginol, *Tetrahedron Letters*, 1981, 22, 793.
- Official Methods of Analysis, A. O. A. C., Washington, D. C., U. S. A., 11th Ed, 1970.

- 7. Robinson, W. B. and Stotz, E., The indophenol-xylene extraction method for ascorbic acid and modification for interfering substances, J. biol. Chem., 1945, 160, 217.
- 8. Care, M. H. and Haynes, S., The estimation of pectin as calcium pectate and the application of this method to the determination of soluble pectin in apples, *Biochem. J.* 1922, 16, 60.
- 9. Lewis, Y. S. and Neelakantan, S., (-)-Hydroxycitric acidthe principal acid in the fruits of *Garcinia cambogia* Desr, *Phytochem.*, 1965, 4, 619.
- 10. Gunter Zweig and Joseph Sharma, Handbook of chromatography, CRC, Press, 1972, Vol. II, 84.
- 11. Harborne, J. B., Comparative biochemistry of flavonoids, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1967, 7, 22, 32.
- 12. Gunter Zweig and Joseph Sharma, Handbook of Chromatography, CRC Press, 1972, Vol. 1, 364.
- Chandler, B. V., and Harper, K. A., Identification of saccharides in anthocyanins and other flavonoids, *Aust.* J. Chem., 1961, 14, 586.
- 14. Du, C. T. and Francis, F. J., Anthocyanins of roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa, L). J. Fd Sci., 1973, 38, 810.
- Fuleki, T. and Francis, F. J., Quantitative methods for anthocyanins—Extraction and determination of total anthocyanir. in cranberries, J. Fd Sci., 1968, 33, 72.
- 16. Harborne, J. B., Plant polyphenols—The glycosidic pattern of anthocyanin pigments, *Phytochem.*, 1963, 2, 85.

## Biochemical Changes Associated with the Pod Development of French Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) Under Kumaon Hill Conditions

P. C. PANT AND K. N. MATHPAL\*

Defence Agricultural Research Unit, Himalayan Research Complex, Almora, U. P., India

Manuscript received 19 March 1981; revised 19 October 1981

Biochemical changes with pod development in two varieties of bean viz. 'V. L. Bauni-1' and 'Contender' were studied. It was observed that moisture, total soluble solids, crude fibre and crude fat showed significant positive or negative correlation with pod development. Eight amino acids, namely, lysine, glycine, threonine,  $\ll$  - alanine, cysteine, methionine, valine and leucine were identified and found in varying concentrations at different stages of pod development. Concentration of lysine,  $\ll$  -alanine and methionine were found to increase with pod development. The period between 18 to 22 days after fruit set was found suitable for picking the pods for vegetable purpose.

Maturity plays an important role in effecting biochemical changes during the development of fruit. Systematic growth studies, coupled with changes in the contents of important chemical constituents, could lead to better understanding of the ripening process and enable to harvest at the optimum time. The biochemical constituents vary with variety and also depend upon the soil and environmental conditions.<sup>1-5</sup>

<sup>\*</sup>Head of the Dept. of Chemistry, Constituent College, Kumaon University, Almora. (U. P.)

no systematic literature is available on the changing pattern of chemical constituents with pod development in French bean.

The present work is concerned with the changes in biochemical constituents associated with the pod development in two cultivars of French beans, grown under Kumaon hill conditions.

#### Materials and Methods

Two varieties of dwarf French beans—'V. L. Bauni-1' and 'Contender' were grown in randomized block design with three replications at the experimental fields of Defence Agricultural Research Unit, Almora. The mean temperature and relative humidity during the growth was 25.34°C and 75% respectively. The soil was sandy loam, well drained, high to medium in nitrogen, low in phosphorus and high in potassium.

For chemical analysis, pods were picked at random from all three replications and a composite sample was made for each variety. The pickings were done 6, 12, 18, 22 and 25 days after fruit set. Samples from different pickings were analysed for various biochemical constituents.

Protein, crude fibre, crude fat and ascorbic acid were estimated as per A.O.A.C. procedure.<sup>6</sup> Fehling solution titremetric method, described by Kanwar *et al.*<sup>7</sup> was used for estimating reducing and total sugars. Total soluble solids were determined by hand refractometer. Total calories were calculated by adding the calories contributed by crude protein, crude fat and total carbohydrate.<sup>8</sup> Sucrose was calculated by multiplying the difference between total and reducing sugars by 0.95. The carbohydrate percentage was calculated by difference.

The free amino acids were determined on the 95% ethanol extract of fruits. For the determination of amino acids, the ethanolic extract was passed through a column of Dowex 50W-X8 (H-form), 200 - 400 mesh and then eluted with 2NNH<sub>4</sub>OH. The qualitative identification of amino acids was done by paper chromatography.<sup>9,10</sup>

Amino acid spots were visualized by ninhydrin reagent<sup>11</sup> and identified by alloxan<sup>12</sup>, isatin<sup>13</sup>, ophthaladehyde<sup>14</sup>, Folins reagent<sup>15</sup> and by specific chemical methods.<sup>16</sup> The amino acid spots were cut, sprayed with ninhydrin, and eluted with 50% ethanol. The optical density was measured at 570 mu. The concentration of amino acids were determined by comparing with standard curves prepared from the known concentration of amino acids.

#### **Results and Discussion**

From the data in Table 1, it is clear that the moisture content increases upto 12 days after fruit set followed by decreases upto the last picking stage. This finding is similar to the finding of Reddy *et al.*<sup>17</sup> Ascorbic acid content increases upto 22 days after fruit set and then decreases. On the other hand, a reverse trend was found with the sugars. This may be due to the inter-conversion of sugar to ascorbic acid.<sup>18</sup>

In both the varieties, total soluble solids, crude

Days after fruit set	Variety	Moisture (%)	T.S.S. (%)	Total minerals (%)	Ascorbic acid (mg/100g)	Crude fibre (%)	Crude fat (%)	Total sugar (%)	Reducing sugar	Sucrose (%)	Protein (%)	Carbo- hydrate	Calories 100 g
6	Α	92.4	4.33	0.64	14.70	0.76	0.16	4.08	2.70	1.31	1.88	4.16	25.60
	В	90.5	4.00	0.58	13.72	0.73	0.18	3.98	2.40	1.50	1.90	6.09	33.58
12	Α	93.0	4.47	0.68	14.92	0.84	0.20	3.96	2.60	1.29	1.76	3.56	23.56
	В	90.8	4.28	0.64	13.92	0.89	0.22	3.84	2.52	1.25	1.84	5.57	31.62
18	Α	90.4	4.96	0.78	15.42	0.97	0.27	3.99	2.73	1.20	1.68	5.93	32.87
	В	89.8	4.70	0.73	14.57	0.92	0.25	3.86	2.68	1.22	1.76	6.56	35.53
22	Α	89.5	5.50	0.82	15.87	1.23	0.29	4.04	2.86	1.12	1.57	6.62	35.42
	В	89.1	4.90	0.78	15.32	1.40	0.28	4.31	2.74	1.49	1.63	6.77	36.12
25	А	88.7	5.80	0.88	15.06	1.37	0.30	4.20	2.69	1.43	1.98	6.77	37.74
	В	88.5	5.60	0.84	14.38	1.57	0.34	4.38	2.57	1.72	1.96	6.82	38.18
A—'	V. L. Ba	uni-1	B—Cor	itender.									

TABLE 1. CHANGES IN BIOCHEMICAL CONSTITUENTS DURING POD DEVELOPMENT IN FRENCH BEAN "ON FRESH WEIGHT BASIS"

Days after fruit set	Variety	Lysine	Glycine	Threonine	≪-Alanine	Cysteine	Methionine	Valine	Leucine
6	Α	1.80	4.45	6.88	4.60	9.09	3.24	5.74	6.62
	В	1.84	4.38	6.74	4.73	8.74	3.27	5.72	6.60
12	Α	2.18	3.72	6.74	7.01	4.84	4.73	6.38	5.73
	В	2.24	3.64	5.72	7.01	3.62	4.74	6.28	5.74
18	Α	2.22	2.18	5.82	8.08	8.52	6.42	6.07	4.49
	В	2.42	2.22	5.20	8.20	5.93	5.94	6.06	4.52
22	А	2.79	2.48	4.83	23.00	4.34	4.78	5.80	4.30
	В	1.94	2.36	4.73	25.00	4.72	4.82	5.13	4.27
25	Α	3.79	2.42	2.91	16.40	2.74	3.63	2.42	3.78
	В	2.87	2.34	2.87	14.80	2.41	3.52	2.38	3.68

TABLE 2. CHANGES IN AMINO ACIDS (mg/100 g.) DURING POD DEVELOPMENT OF FRENCH BEAN

TABLE 3. CORRELATION BETWEEN DAYS OF PICKING AND DIFFERENT BIOCHEMICAL CONSTITUENTS

Sl. No. Biochemical constituents	Variety*	Regression equation	R <sup>2</sup>	SI. No. of variable with which significantly correlated
1. Moisture	Α	Y = 94.5908-0.2388X	0.8343	2, 3, 5, 9
	В	Y = 91.7272-0.1627X	0.8268	2, 3, 5, 6, 9
2. T. S. S.	Α	Y = 3.6408 + 0.0857X	0.9063	1, 5, 9
	В	Y = 3.3636 + 0.0854X	0.9392	1, 3, 5, 9
3. Total minerals	А	Y = 0.5392 + 0.0138X	0.9716	1, 5, 9
	В	Y = 0.4816 + 0.0149X	0.9864	1, 5, 9
4. Ascorbic acid	A	Y = 14.5444 + 0.0406X	0.3901	_
	В	Y = 13.4067 + 0.0625X	0.4869	7
5. Crude fibre	А	Y = 0.4852 + 0.0343X	0.8776	1, 2, 3, 9
	В	Y = 0.3425 + 0.0487X	0.8827	1, 2, 3, 7, 9
6. Total Sugar	А	Y = 3.9660 + 0.0055X	0.1723	_
	В	Y = 3.6698 + 0.0272X	0.6446	1, 5
7. Reducing Sugar	Α	Y = 2.6344 + 0.0051X	0.1473	_
	В	Y = 2.7739 + 0.0133X	0.4846	5
8. Protein	Α	Y = 1.8020 + 0.0018X	0.0062	
	В	Y - 1.8599-0.0027X	0.0213	_
9. Crude fat	Α	Y = 0.1055 + 0.0088X	0.9665	1, 2, 3, 5
	В	Y = 0.1207 + 0.0085G	0.9683	1, 2, <b>3</b> , 5

\*A-V. L. Bauni-1; B-Contender.

.

fibre, crude fat and total minerals increased with pod development (Table 1). Similar trend was also observed by early workers in other varieties of French bean,<sup>19</sup>

*Protein and amino acids*: It was found that protein content decreases with pod development upto 22 days, after fruit set, but after that, it increases in both the varieties.

Lysine, glycine, threonine,  $\propto$  -alanine, cysteine, methionine, valine and leucine were identified at all the stages of the pod development (Table 2) in both the varieties. However, the concentration of amino acids varied at different stages of pcd development. The concentrations of lysine,  $\approx$  -alanine and methionine increased with pod development. Methionine and  $\propto$  -alanine increased upto 18 and 22 days respectively and afterwards decreased.

The increase in the concentration of lysine,  $\ll$  -alanine and methionine could be due to the reduced demand for their metabolities as growth processes are slowly taken over by ripening process in the final stages of maturity.<sup>20</sup> Selvaraj *et al.*,<sup>21</sup> observed that the concentration of  $\ll$  -alanine increased several folds during the later developmental stages in grape.

Glycine, threonine, cysteine, valine and leucine showed decrease in concentration at the overmature stage. However, their concentrations at 22 days after fruit set were found higher than at 25 days. The erratic fluctuations in most of the amino acids indicate their involvement in intermediary metabolic processes during development. Out of eight amino acids identified in French beans, six were found to be essential amino acids.

Taking into consideration all the biochemical constituents, the period between 18 and 22 days after fruit set, appears to be the appropriate time for picking the pods of bean for vegetable purpose. At this period, the ascorbic acid and reducing sugars were at their maximum level and most of the essential free amino acids were found to be in adequate amount. The crude fibre content was also within tolerable limits (Table 3).

#### Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to Shri M. C. Joshi, Director, Himalayan Research Complex, Almora for providing facilities for the study. The help rendered by Dr. A. K. Pant, Lecturer, Kumaon University, Almora and Shri K. S. Bisht, Scientist, Vivekanand Laboratory (I.C.A.R.), Almora is also thankfully acknowledged. 2

#### References

- Kaldy, M. S., Fibre conterts of green snap beans as influenced by variety and environment, *Proc. Amer. Soc. hort. Sci.*, 1966, 89, 361.
- Suresh, E. R., Pal, D. K., Divakar, N. G., Rajendran, R. and Selvaraj, Y., Studies on physico-chemical composition of twenty five French bean varieties, *Indian Fd. Peckr*, 1977, 31, 39.
- 3. Jones, L. H. and Corner, J. J., Physiological aspects of dwarf bean maturity, J Fd Sci. Technol., 1962, 2, 137.
- Rajendran, R., Bean crops, human and soil nutrition., Everyman's Sci, 1979, 14, 96.
- 5. Gardiner, K. D., Alcohol insoluble solids and dry matter contents in the assessment of quality and maturity in French bean, *Hort. Sci.*, 1970, **45**, 166.
- Official Methods of Analysis Association of Official Analytical chemists, Washington, 1970, 10th Edn. 16-7, 129-31, 128, 777.
- 7. Kanwar, J. S. and Chopra, S. L., Practical agricultural chemistry, S. Chand & Co. Delhi. 1967, 136.
- Millette, Paul A. M. and Clagett, C. O., Biochemistry of Plants and animals, Wiley Eastern Pvt Ltd, New Delhi, 1968, 495.
- 9. Johnson, A. E., The free amino acids in *Trichomenas foetus*, Exp. Parasitol., 1962, 12, 168.
- Moffat, E. D. and Lytle, R. I., Polychromatic techniques for the identification of amino acids on paper chromatograms, *Anal. Chem.*, 1959, 31, 926.
- 11. Smith, I., Chromatographic and electrophoretic techniques, Interscience publishers, Inc., New York, Vol. I, 1969, 119.
- Saifer, A. and Oreskes, I., Colour reaction of amino acids with alloxan, isatin and ninhydrin in circular paper chromatography, *Anal. Chem.*, 1956, 28, 501.
- 13. Noworytko, J. and Saranacka Keller, N., The use of isatin and its derivatives in paper chromatography of amino acids and peptides, *Acta. Biochem. Polon.*, 1955, 2, 91.
- 14. Patton, A. R. and Foreman, E. M., Glycine reagent for paper chromatograms, *Science*, 1949, 109, 339.
- 15. Giri, K. V. and Nagabhushanum, A., Sodium 1, 2 naphtahquinone-4-sulfonate as a reagent for identification of amino acids and peptides and for determination of proline and hydroxy proline separated on paper chromatograms, *Naturwiss*, 1952, 39, 548.
- Greenstaein, J. P. and Winitiz, M., Chemistry of amino acids, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, Vol. 1-3, 1961, V.
- 17. Reddy, R. and Sulladmath, U. V., Maturity standards in snap beans, Haryana J. Hort. Sci., 1975, 3-4, 186.
- Agrawal, O. P., Chemistry of organic natural products, Meerut publishing Co., Meerut, 1974, 2.
- Rawat, P. S., Singh, B., Pant, P. C. and Joshi, S., The Biochemical constituents of French bean pods at different stages of maturity, Veg. Sci., 1979, 6, 48.
- Kliewer, W. M., Changes in the concentration of free amino acids in grape berries during maturation, *Amer. J. Enol. Vitic.*, 1968, 19, 166.
- Selvaraj, Y., Pal, D. K., Divakar, N. G., Purohit, A. G. and Shikhamany, S. D., Sugars, organic acids and amino acids in Anab-E-Shahi grape during growth and development, J. Fd Sci. Technol, 1978, 15, 136.

## A Method for Measuring the Firmness of Cooked Soyabean (Glycine max)

H. P. S. MAKKAR, O. P. SHARMA AND S. S. NEGI

Indian Veterinary Research Institute, Regional Station, Palampur, Himachal Pradesh, India

Manuscript received 20 January 1981; revised 21 September 1981

A simple method for objective determination of cooking firmness of soyabean has been described. The apparatus used can be improvised in the laboratory. The cooking firmness of three soyabean (*Glycine max*) varieties 'DS-24-2', 'Lee' and 'UPSM-19' has been studied by this method.

The firmness or tenderness, besides cooked weight, cooked volume and cooking losses is an important trait which determines the cooking quality of a pulse. The determination of cooked weight, cooked volume and cooking losses is simple. The routine methods for the determination of firmness are to press the cooked grains between two fingers or between two glass slides.<sup>1-5</sup> These methods have inherent disadvantages: (i) these are subjective and (ii) the results cannot be expressed quantitatively. In this communication, we report a method for objective determination of firmness of cooked soyabean; the method is simple and the apparatus can be fabricated in the laboratory. Besides, the proposed method offers the advantage of digital representation of results.

#### Materials and Methods

Three varieties of soyabean (*Glycine max*) viz. 'DS-24-2', 'Lee' and 'UPSM-19' were used in the experiment.

Apparatus: The main features of the apparatus are shown in Fig. 1. It consists of a metal stand (1) with a horizontal arm (II). On the horizontal arm is placed the test specimen (III) whose firmness is to be determined. A 2cm. long loop of nylon thread or a very fine wire (IV) is passed over the specimen (Fig. 1b). The thread/wire should not touch the arm of the stand (II). A pan (V) with three iron chains (VI) is connected to the lower end of the loop. The total weight of the pan, the chains and the thread/wire is 22.5 g, the diameter of the pan is 6.5 cm. and the vertical length of the chains 5 cm. (Fig. 1a). Care is taken to keep the plan of the pan (V) parallel to the arm of stand (II).

Theory: The force required to cut the grain transversely represents the index of firmness. Greater



FIG. 1. Description of apparatus: I. Stand. II. Arm of stand III. Test sample. IV. Nylon thread/wire. V. Pan VI. Connecting iron chain.

the firmness, greater the force required to cut it.

The force (F) required to cut the sample is represented by:  $F = (m_o + m) \times g$ 

Where *m* is the weight of the pan,  $m_o$  is the weight needed to be put on the pan for cutting the grain into two halves and *g* is the acceleration due to gravity. The force required for extending the thread/ wire is very small and is neglected.

If  $m_o = m_a$  for variety 'A' and  $m_b$  for variety 'B', the forces  $F_a$  and  $E_b$  required to cut them respectively are:  $F_a = (m_a + m) \times g$ 

$$\mathbf{F}_{\boldsymbol{b}} = (\boldsymbol{m}_{\boldsymbol{b}} + \boldsymbol{m}) \times$$

$$\mathbf{F}_a = \mathbf{F}_b \left( \frac{m_a + m}{m_b + m} \right)$$

Or variety 'A' is  $\frac{m_a + m}{m_b + m}$  times firmer than variety 'B' at a particular time of cooking

'B' at a particular time of cooking.

An arbitrary unit of firmness s defined as the force produced by a weight of 1 g which cuts the sample into two halves.

Cooking of soyabean: Distilled water (100 ml.) was added in a beaker containing soyabean grains. The beaker was kept in an autoclave and cooked for different lengths of time at a pressure of 15 psi (1.05 kg./cm.<sup>2</sup>).

Measurement of the weight required to cut the sample: The soyabean grain was placed on the arm and loop passed over it as described earlier. Weight was increased on the pan by 10 g at a time till the grain was cut into two halves. This gave the approximate weight required for cutting the grain. For the next observation, a weight well below recorded in the first observation was put on the pan and additions of 1 g at a time were made slowly till the grain was cut into two halves. This value was recorded and twenty replications were made to get the average value.

#### **Results and Discussions**

Table 1 shows that the effect of cooking the three varieties of soyabean at 15 psi  $(1.05 \text{ kg/cm}^2)$  in autoclave for three different lengths of time. At all the three time intervals there was a significant

difference in firmness of the varieties tested. Given 5 min. of cooking, the variety 'DS-24-2' is 1.09 and 1.69 times were more firm than 'Lee' and 'UPSM-19' respectively. The comparative firmness at 15 and 20 min. of cooking also included in Table 1, show that the variety 'UPSM-19' is the least firm and therefore, possessed the best cookability compared to varieties 'DS-24-2' and 'Lee'.

The variety 'DS-24-2' when cooked at 15 psi (1.05 kg/cm<sup>2</sup>) pressure for 15 min. gave firmness values (mean  $\pm$  S.D.) of 105 $\pm$ 4 and 105.5 $\pm$ 6 on two different occassions. The differences were not significant, thereby showing the reproducibility of the observation by the method.

While cooking, the outer skin (testa) of some of the grains gets detached. The cooking firmness when measured (mean  $\pm$  S.D.) with skin was  $105.5\pm4$  as compared to  $63.5\pm5$  got with the skin removed. The values are significantly different at p > 0.001. Therefore, proper care should be taken for the selection of grains. Need for avoiding the frictional forces by ensuring the absence of touch of loop with the horizontal arm has already been stated. Caution is also required in placement of weights on the pan to avoid the involvement of forces due to jerks.

An objective evaluation of different soyabean varieties for their cooking firmness can help the plant breeders in evolving varieties with high cookability in addition to their high yielding quality. Most varieties of soyabean take a long time for cooking and certain chemical pre-treatments can be given to reduce their cooking time. In such studies, the above method can be of paramount utility to assess the relative efficacy of different treatments on cooking quality. Though the method has been developed for soyabean, it may offer scope for the study of other pulses also.

Time of	]	Firmness (units)*	+					
cooking* (min)	$\frac{\text{DS-24-2}}{(F_1)}$ Mean $\pm$ S.D.	Lee $(F_2)$ Mean $\pm$ S.D.	UPSM-19 ( $F_3$ ) Mean $\pm$ S.D.	-	$F_1/F_2$	$F_1/F_3$	F <sub>2</sub> /F <sub>3</sub>	
5	159.5±5°	146.5 <u>+</u> 4 <i>b</i>	94.5±4°		1.09	1.69	1.55	
15	105.5 <u>+</u> 6ª	99.5±6 <sup>b</sup>	72.5±4°		1.06	1.46	1.37	
25	88.5±4ª	84.5±4b	50.5±4°		1.05	1.46	1.40	

TABLE 1. COMPARISON OF THE COOKING FIRMNESS OF THREE VARIETIES OF SOYABEAN

\* Cooked at 15 psi (1.05 kg'cm<sup>2</sup>)

\*\*  $m+m_0$  expressed in g; values represent average of 20 replications.

a, b, c Different superscripts in the same line indicate that the varietal differences are significant at P < 0.001.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to Dr. C. M. Singh, Director of the institute for facilities and constant encouragement, to Dr. O. P. Sood, Plant Geneticist, HPKVV, Palampur, for providing the soyabean varieties and to Dr. S. P. Chachra, Physicist, HPKVV Palampur for helpful discussions.

#### References

- Singh, L., Sharma, D., Deodhar, A. D. and Sharma, Y. K., Variation in protein, methionine, tryptophan and cooking period in pigeon-pea (*Cajanus cajan* (L) Millsp.), *Indian* J. Agric. Sci., 1973, 43, 795.
- Shivashankar, G., Rajendra, B. R., Vijaykumar. S. and Sreekantaradhya, R., Variability for cooking characteristic in a collection of green gram (*Phaseolus aureus* Roxb), J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1974, 11, 232.
- Sharma, Y. K., Tiwari, A. S., Rao, K. C. and Mishra, A., Studies on chemical constituents and their influence on cookability in pigeon pea, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1977, 14, 38.
- Narasimha, H. V. and Desikachar, H. S. R., Simple procedure for reducing the cooking time of split red gram (*Cajanus cajan*), J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1978, 15, 149.
- Narasimha, H. V. and Desikachar, H. S. R. Objective method for studing cookability of Tur pulse (*Cajanus zajan*) and factors affecting varietial differences in cooking, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1978, 15, 47.

## Breakage of Rice During Milling I. Types of Cracked and Immature Grains

Y. M. INDUDHARA SWAMY AND K. R. BHATTACHARYA

Discipline of Rice and Pulse Technology, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570013, India

Manuscript received 18 March 1981; revised 14 July 1981

About 150 randomly-selected hand-dehusked grains are examined in transmitted light in a modified microbiological colony counter. Grains with (a) a single transverse crack (STC), (b) multiple transverse cracks (MTC), and (c) longitudinal (or irregular) ( $\pm$  transverse) cracks (LC) can be distinguished; immature grains can be ident fied by their size, colour and opacity. During progressive ripening of paddy on stalk, STC appeared and increased first, but MTC and LC increased rapidly at the later stages. Controlled hydration and drying of paddy shcwed that sorption of water led to regular transverse cracks, while longitudinal (irregular) cracks were formed mostly upon fast drying.

A recent review of the factors responsible for breakage of rice grains during milling by us<sup>1</sup> revealed certain gaps in information. This prompted us to undertake a comprehensive study on the relationship of various types of kernel defects, grain shape and size, moisture content, and type of milling equipment individually and in their interaction—to rice breakage during milling.

There are a few reports<sup>2</sup>,<sup>3</sup> that different types of cracks develop in rice depending on the circumstances of its exposure to moisture stress. We also made similar observations during our studies on artificial aging of rice by humid-heat treatment.<sup>4</sup> The types of cracks observed in rice grain and on the possible circumstances of their development were therefore, first examined and are presented here. A method of

evaluating grains for kernel defects (cracked and immature grains) is also described. This information was later used in evaluating the data on rice breakage presented in subsequent papers of this series.\*

#### Materials and Methods

All paddy samples were procured from the University of Agricultural Sciences Experiment Station at Mandya.

To study the effect of the maturity stage of paddy at harvest on its content and type of defective kernels, five varieties of paddy (one plot each) were harvested at different stages. About 50 plants selected at random from each in duplicate were reaped (at 10 a.m. every time) at each stage as per the general procedure of Mahadevappa *et al.*? The plants were threshed immediately and a small portion of the grain was

The present paper was unfortunately held up for two years

----

<sup>\*</sup>Two of these papers have already been since published<sup>5</sup>,<sup>6</sup>. in a journal, which then returned it as it ceased publication.

stored in a closed bottle for determination of moisture. Remaining paddy was dried in the shade for 2-3 days, carefully winnowed to remove chaff, but not immature grains, and stored in closed polyethylene bags until examined for defective grains. Unfortunately, the season was exceptionally wet, with overcast sky and intermittent rain, and the actual counts of defective kernels may not be typical. The trend of their change with harvest stage, however, can be taken as fairly representative.

To study the effects of (a) wetting and (b) fast drying on the types of cracks formed in paddy grain, a few samples were (a) soaked in water at room temperature ( $\mathbf{RT} = 25-30$ °C) for different times and dried in shade, and (b) soaked and then dried in a cabinet dryer at different temperatures.

Cracks and immature grains were visualised in transmitted light essentially by the method devised earlier.<sup>8</sup> However, a microbiological colony counter, with its ruled-glass viewing window replaced with a piece of plain glass, was used instead of the stool with a hole and a flashlight from below used earlier. With its dark background and a strong diffused fluorescent light from below, which moreover generated little heat, this instrument was ideal for this purpose. About 150 paddy grains (3 g) were selected with a sample divider, dehusked by hand, and stored in a closed petri dish. About 20 of these kernels were taken at a time on a petri dish placed on the viewing window of the instrument, and were examined carefully while being gently moved around with a spatula. Grains with cracks of different categories and other defects were collected separately and weighed.

Moisture content (wet basis) was determined by oven drying.9

#### **Results and Discussion**

Types of cracks: Most samples of paddy, when examined in transmitted light (after manual shelling), showed kernels with different kinds of cracks—viz. kernels having (i) a single transverse crack (STC) (Fig. 1a), (ii) two or more (multiple) transverse cracks (MTC) (Fig. 1b, c), and (iii) longitudinal (or irregular), usually with some transverse cracks (LC) (Fig. 1d, e, f). This classification, important for milling studies showed<sup>5</sup>,<sup>6</sup> that grains with MTC and LC were the most prone to break. They were also very fragile when tested by pressing between fingers.

Immature grains: Immature brown rice kernels also tend to break easily during milling.<sup>8</sup> Their main distinguishing features as observed in transmitted light (Fig. 2c,d,e) are: (i) invariably smaller than the



Fig. 1. Types of cracks in brown rice grain. (a) Single transverse crack (STC), (b) two transverse and (c) three transverse cracks (MTC), (d) longitudinal crack (LC) with STC. (e) LC with 2 TC, (f) LC with 3 TC,(g) badly cracked grains.



Fig. 2. Photograph of (a) sound and mature, (b) slightly smaller, but otherwise sound and mature, (c), (d), (e) various degrees of immature, and (f) mature, but chalky-centre brown rice grains.

	TABLE 1.	REPRODUCIBI	LITY OF THE	DEFECTIVE-KERNEL	ANALYSIS	METHOD **	
No. of replicate sub-samples	No. of replicate analyses	Sound	STC	MTC	LC	Immature	Total defective
1	6	48.8	15.5	17.9	6.4	11.4	51.2
	C.V.	2.4	7.2	5.0	9.7	3.4	2.3
7	1 each	51.4	18.2	16.1	5.9	8.5	48.6
	C.V.	7.0	13.6	11.9	5.8	14.2	7.4

\*A sample of 'IET 1522' variety, harvested fairly late, was analysed in seven replicate subsamples of 3 g each; one of the subsamples was analysed six times, the rest only once.

+ Results are expressed in mean contents in % by weight.

C.V. = Coefficient of variation = s.d. expressed as  $\frac{0}{0}$  of mean.

mature grains (Fig. 2a, b), (*ii*) usually (but not necessarily) green in colour, and (*iii*) invariably partly or fully opaque. Chalky, but mature kernels (Fig. 2f) can be easily distinguished from immature kernels.

Reproducibility of defective-kernel analysis: Some information on the reproducibility of the method for defective-kernel analysis is given in Table I. Precision of replicate defective-kernel analysis in a single subsample was excellent. Precision of the analysis in replicate subsamples was lower but still good. Effect of stage of harvest: There were appreciable varietal difference in the count of defective kernels, but too much could not be read into this because of the intermittent rains and because different varieties came up for harvest on different days. Two typical sets of results—one of a long-slender (Ls) and the other of a medium-bold (Mb) variety as per our recent classification<sup>10</sup>—are shown in Table 2. The main points that emerge from these results are:

(a) A very small amount of cracked kernels was present even as early as 25-30% grain moisture.

No. of day		days Moisture		Cracked ke	Cracked kernels (%)		
flowering	flowering	harvest (%)	STC	MTC	LC	Total	- grains (%)
MR 301	24	29.2	2.1	0.9	0.0	3.0	13.3
	29	28.6	6.2	3.1	0.0	9.3	5.8
	33	23.4	4.8	0.9	0.0	5.7	4.4
	39	22.4	17.2	14.2	3.0	34.4	5.1
	45	19.1	12.8	13.6	5.1	31.5	6.0
	51	16.9	14.1	16.6	6.0	36.7	6.0
	64	16.9	21.8	31.9	9.9	63.6	3.3
	72	17.6	17.8	31.2	10.8	59.8	7.8
IET 3305	24	25.3	3.4	0.0	0.0	3.4	21.0
	29	25.9	8.0	2.1	0.0	10.1	16.4
	34	23.5	8.2	2.2	0.0	10.4	13.0
	38	17.5	13.1	5.9	1.3	20.3	8.9
	44	17.9	24.9	11.4	1.3	37.6	9.7
	54	15.1	29.3	26.3	7.3	62.9	5.6
	68	14.8	25.2	22.6	18.6	66.4	8.8

TABLE 2. CONTENT OF DEFECTIVE GRAINS IN PADDY HARVESTED AT VARIOUS STAGES

\*The length (mm) and the length breadth ratio, respectively, of the varieties (brown rice) were: 'MR 301'-6.5, 3.2; 'IET 3305'-5.6, 2.2.

(b) Not only did the total content of cracked kernels increase with increasing ripening of the crop, which is well known, but the proportion of grains with multiple and irregular cracks increased. This is important, for it is these latter r ce grains which are the most prone to break during milling.<sup>5,6</sup>

(c) Single transverse cracks (STC) were the first to appear, rapidly increasing with time, but soon reaching a more or less steady value. Multiple transverse (MTC) and longitudinal cracks (LC) appeared later, increased rapidly and finally exceeded the STC. Clearly, the first-formed STC grains were gradually converted into MTC and LC grains as time passed.

(d) Content of LC grains became appreciable only when the moisture content had dropped to quite low levels.

(e) Immature grains were plent ful in early samples, but decreased rapidly, finally reaching a more or less steady value.

(f) It was observed that all the cracks, including the STC, became somewhat deeper and more pronounced as the harvest was delayed. In early samples, the cracks were usually very thin, and some

of them were only fractional (less than full across the kernel).

Effect of artificial damage: Examination of the grains after soaking in water (followed by shade drying) and after hot-air drying suggested (Table 3) that sorption of water led mostly to regular transverse cracks, as has been observed in milled and brown rice<sup>2,3,11</sup>. Rapid desorption, however, gave rise to appreciable numbers of longitudinal (or irregular) cracks, particularly at the terminal stages of drying. However, it is to be noted that a good number of transverse cracks were also formed during desorption. With progressive drying, both the number and proportion of STC soon decreased and those of MTC and LC increased. This need not mean, however, that STC are the first to form which are then gradually transformed into MTC and LC. For, as has been shown, cracks form not during drying, but after the drying has ceased<sup>12</sup>,<sup>13</sup>. It appears that under mild stress, most grains suffer only one crack (i.e., STC); but under more severe conditions, several grains crack more than once (MTC). LC, however, form only under severe drying conditions. These results also explain

TABLE 3.	EFFECT OF SOAK NO	G AND OF HO	T-AIR DRYING ON N	UMBER AND TY	PE OF CRACKS IN	PADDY
Nosista	Time of soaking	Drying	Final		Cracks (%)	
variety	(hr)	(°C)	(%, w.b.)	STC	MTC	LC
Bangara Sanna	0.0	Nil	12.5	5.7	2.0	0.0
	0.5	RT	_	25.5	4.2	0.0
	3	RT	_	31.2	4.9	0.0
Faichung 65	0	Nil	12.0	26.6	3.2	2.4
	0.5	RT		53.5	5.4	5.6
	1	RT	_	42.3	12.8	9.1
Bangara Sanna	0	Nil	22.3	_		-
	0	60	14.9	6.0	1.8	0.0
			14.0	15.6	5.2	1.8
			13.0	21.3	22.0	2.0
			12.3	26.8	32.5	4.0
			11.5	27.3	46.8	8.4
			9.9	8.9	67.7	14.7
Coimbatore Sanna	0	Nil	24.2	4.1	0.0	0.0
		60	13.5	24.3	12.6	1.1
		70	9.2	4.1	36.6	44.1
Adt 27	0	Nil	12.9	3.4	1.0	0.0
	4	RT	11.3	35.6	13.2	3.1
	70	80	٦ 15.8	15 7	9.2	20.9
		RT	12.5	13.7	0.3	30.0
		60	13.5	19.4	4.4	61.7
	6	85	9.6	3.1	2.2	90,3
•RT (room temp.)	indicates dried in	shade for 1-	3 days.			

งข้องสมุดกรมวิทยาสาสตรีบริการ

the appearance of LC in late-harvested grain. STC and MTC in the standing crop can arise both from wetting (rain or dew) and drying (by sun).

As in late-harvested samples, cracks in paddy damaged severely by drying also were deeper and more severe compared to less damaged samples.

Stermer<sup>3</sup>, working with milled rice, had reported that the cracks developed by moisture sorption were transverse, whereas those developed by desorption were irregular in shape. This fact is of course well known and can be verified easily by putting a few kernels of milled rice (a) in water and (b) in the sun. Within a few minutes, transverse cracks in (a) and numerous minute irregular cracks in (b), respectively, would be evident even to the naked eve. However, the latter cracks, which are the same as seen in Stermer's figures, are mostly on the surface and tend to disappear again on tempering the rice. The irregular cracks observed in late-harvested and hot-air dried paddy, referred to in the present work (Fig. 1), on the other hand, were much fewer in number but considerably longer in size, as well as deeper and permanent. It would appear that they are formed primarily under severe conditions of drying. As has been shown, grains with such cracks are the most prone to break under the stress of milling.5

#### Acknowledgement

We are thankful to Dr. B. S. Naidu, Rice Breeder, and other staff of the Regional Research Station of the University of Agricultural Sciences at V. C. Farm, Mandya, for their cooperation in collecting the various samples.

#### References

- 1. Bhattacharya, K. R., Breakage of rice during milling: a review, Trop. Sci., 1980, 22, 255.
- 2. Kunze, O. R. and Hall, C. W., Relative humidity changes that cause brown rice to crack, *Trans. Am. Soc. agric. Engng*, 1965, 8, 396.
- 3. Stermer, R. A., Environmental conditions and stress cracks in milled rice, *Cereal Chem.*, 1968, **45**, 365.
- Bhattacharya, K. R., Desikachar, H. S. R. and Subrahmanyan, V., Curing of freshly harvested rice by heat treatment, *Indian J. Technol.*, 1964, 2, 378.
- Indudhara Swamy, Y. M. and Bhattacharya, K. R., Breakage of rice during milling.
  Effect of kernel defects and grain dimension, J. Fd Proc. Engng, 1979, 3, 29.
- Indudhara Swamy, Y. M. and Bhattacharya, K. R., Breakage of rice during milling.
  Comparison among different shellers, J. Fd Proc. Engng, 1979, 3, 43.
- Mahadevappa, M., Bhashyam, M. K. and Desikachar, H.S.R., The influence of harvesting date and traditional threshing practices on grain yield and milling quality of paddy, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1969, 6, 263.
- 8. Bhattacharya, K. R., Breakage of rice during milling, and effect of parboiling, Cereal Chem., 1969, 46, 478.
- Indudhara Swamy, Y. M., Ali, S. Z. and Bhattacharya, K. R., Hydration of raw and parboiled rice and paddy at room temperature. J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1971. 8, 20.
- Bhattacharya, K. R. and Sowbhagya, C. M., Size and shape classification of rice, *Riso*, 1980, 29, 181.
- Desikachar, H. S. R. and Subrahmanyan, V., The formation of cracks in rice during wetting and its effect on the cooking characteristics of the cereal, *Cereal Chem.*, 1961, 38, 356.
- 12. Craufurd, R. Q., Sorption and desorption in raw and parboiled paddy, J. Sci. Fd Agric., 1963, 14, 744.
- 13. Bhattacharya, K. R. and Indudhara Swamy, Y. M., Conditions of drying parboiled paddy for optimum milling quality, *Cereal Chem.*, 1967, 44, 592.

### Component Acids of Some Ornamental Seed Oils

C. D. DAULATABAD, R. F. ANKALGI AND J. S. KULKARNI\* Department of Chemistry, Karnatak University, Dharwad-580 003, India

Manuscript received 30 April 1981; revised 28 September 1981

Seed oils of *Muntingia calabura*, *Dracaena reflexa*, *Indigofera wightii*, were found to contain (wt. %) the following acids: capric 2.4, 0.1, nil; lauric 1.4, 0.8, 4.6; myristic 1.9, 1.7, 4.2; palmitic 19.1, 15.0, 29.1; stearic 10.0, 6.1, 12.1; arachidic 1.4, 2.0, 2.2: behenic 1.1, 2.2, 2.5; oleic 18.6, 41.2, 6.6; and linoleic 44.1, 30.8, 38.7 respectively.

Muntingia calabura, Linr., (N. O. Tiliaceae) is cultivated all over the tropics for ornament and for monotypic genus and native of South America, its edible fruit. The fruit is a berry, smooth, red

<sup>\*</sup>Department of Botany, Karnatak Science College, Dharwad-580 001.

globose or obovid, containing many seeds embedded in a juicy pulp. The fruits are sweet and pleasant to taste and can be made into Jams. Infusion of the leaves is used as a tea, and that of flowers for headache and incipient colds.<sup>1</sup>

Dracaena reflexa, (N. O. Liliazeae) is ornamental rosette of densely clustering, short and narrow leathery leaves and self branching stem.<sup>2</sup>

Indigofera wightii, Grah, (N. O. Leguminosae) is a small erect shrub, with numerous branches. The leaves are 1.5 to 2.5 in. long and petioles 0.25 to 0.5 in. long. It is a rare plant.<sup>3</sup>

There are no reports on the component acids of the oils obtained from the seeds of these species.

#### Materials and Methods

The seeds were collected from the plants grown in the Botanical Gardens of Karnatak University, Dharwad. The seeds were extracted with light petroleum ether  $(40-60^\circ)$  to yield the oil. A portion of the oil was hydrolysed in cold condition with ethanolic potassium hydroxide and non-saponifiable matter and mixed acids were obtained.

The thin layer chromatography of mixed acids and their methyl esters revealed the absence of oxygenated acids. The mixed ac ds (a) after hydrogenation, (b) without other treatment and (c) after oxidation<sup>4</sup> were examined by reverse phase partition chromatography.<sup>5</sup>

The iodine values and sapon fication equivalents calculated from the results agree well with those measured experimentally.

#### **Results and Discussion**

The seeds of *M. calabura*, *D. reflexa* and *I. wightii* contain 5.0%, 2.0% and 7.0% of fatty oil respectively. *M. calabura*, *D. reflexa* and *I. wightii* seed oils have iodine values of 94.0, 93.8 and 73.4 and saponification equivalents of 265.9, 275.5 and 266.3 respectively.

The mixed fatty acids, hydrogenated fatty acids, and oxidised fatty acids were examined by reversed phase partition column chromatography on paraffin columns in each species. The chromatographic results on paraffin columns in terms of more % were obtained. The wt. % thus obtained are given in Table 1.

The seed oil of *M. calabura* contains  $62.7^{\circ}_{0}$  of unsaturated acids. The unsaturated acids are oleic (18.6%) and linoleic (44.1%). The saturated acids are capric (2.4%), lauric (1.4%), myristic (1.9%), palmitic (19.1%), stearic (10.0%), arachidic (1.4%) and behenic (1.1%).

TABLE J. CO	MPONENT ACIDS	OF ORNAMENTAL	. SEED OILS
Fatty acids	<i>M. ca<b>la</b>bura</i> (wt. %)	D. reflexa (wt. %)	I. wightii (wt. %)
Capric	2.4	0.1	
Lauric	1.4	0.8	4.6
Myristic	1.9	1.7	4.2
Palmitic	19.1	15.0	29.1
Stearic	10.0	6.1	12.1
Arachidic	1.4	2.0	2.2
Behenic	1.1	2.2	2.5
Oleic	18.6	41.2	6.6

D. reflexa seed oil contains 71.0% of unsaturated acids. The principal components among the ununsaturated acids are oleic (41.2%) and linoleic (30.8%). This seed oil contains 15.0% of palmitic acid as the major component among the saturated acids with smaller amounts of capric (0.1%), lauric (0.8%), myristic (1.7%), stearic (6.1%), arachidic (2.0%) and behenic (2.2%).

30.8

3.7

44.1

1. wightii seed oil contains 54.7% of saturated acids and 45.3% of unsaturated acids. The palmitic acid (29.1%) is the major component among the saturated acids with next major component as stearic (12.1%) acid. The other saturated acids are lauric (4.6%), myristic (4.2%), arachidic (2.2%) and behenic (2.5%). The linoleic acid (38.7%) is the principal component amongst the unsaturated acids along with a small amount of oleic (6.6%).

#### Acknowledgement

Linoleic

Authors are grateful to Prof. E. S. Jayadevappa for his keen interest and encouragement.

#### References

- 1. The wealth of India-Raw materials, C.S.I.R., New Delhi, Vol. VI, 1962, 445-46.
- 2. Alfred Byrd Graf, Pictorial cyclopedia of exotica plants, Vol. 2, 1970, 1694.
- 3. Cook, T., Flora of Bombay, B.S.I., Calcutta, 1967, Vol. I, 340.
- Kartha, A.R.S., The glyceride structure of natural fats—I. A technique for quantitative determination of glyceride types in natural fats, J. Am. Oil, Chem. soc., 1953, 30, 280.
- Badami, R.C., Reversed phase partition column chromatography: A Method for quantitative analysis of fatty acids, Chemy Ind., 1964, 1920.

### Minor Seed Oils I. Component Fatty Acids of Some Seed Oils

C. D. DAULATABAD AND R. F. ANKALAGI

Department of Chemistry, Karnatak University, Dharwad-580 003, India

Manuscript received 8 June 1981; revised 28 September 1981

Seed oils of *Fluggea microcarpa*, *Ixora parviflora*, and *Diospyros melanoxylon* were found to contain (wt. %) the following acids: capric nil, 1.3, nil; lauric nil, 3.1, 4.6; myristic 5.4, 4.7, 9.9; palmitic 19.8, 11.4, 37.9; stearic 9.7, 11.9, 16.1; arachidic 1.4, 2.9, 5.3; behenic 1.2, 2.0, 5.3; oleic 6.1, 18.7, 19.7 and linoleic 56.4, 44.0, 1.2 respectively.

Fluggea microcarpa, Blume, syn. F. virosa (N. O. Euphorbiaceae) is distributed throughout India. The roots are used to cure gonorrhoea. The leaves made into paste with tobacco are used to destroy worms in sores.<sup>1</sup>

*Ixora parviflora*, Vahl, (N. O. Rubiaceae) is a small much branched evergreen tree. The bark is thick reddish brown.<sup>2</sup> The root or bark is given to females when the urine is highly coloured.

Diospyres melanoxylon Roxb, Syn. D. tupru Buch-Ham, (N. O. Ebenaceae), is a moderate sized tree. It grows mixed with teak; but is heavier and harder than teak. The lighter part of sapwood is valuable as black heartwood, which is used in place of true ebony. The fruit is edible.<sup>3</sup>

There are no reports on the component acids of oils obtained from seeds of these trees.

#### Materials and Methods

The seeds were collected from the plants grown in the Botanical Gardens of Karnatak University, Dharwad. The seeds were extracted with light petroleum ether  $(40-60^{\circ})$  to yield the oil. A portion of the oil in each case was hydrolysed in cold condition with ethanolic potassium hydroxide and non-saponifiable matter and mixed acids were obtained.

The thin layer chromatography of mixed acids and their methyl esters revealed the absence of oxygenated acids. The mixed acids (a) after hydrogenation, (b) without other treatment and (c) after oxidation<sup>4</sup> were examined by reverse phase partition chromatography.<sup>5</sup>

The iodine values and saponification equivalents calculated from the results agree well with those measured experimentally.

#### **Results and Discussion**

The seeds of *Fluggea microcorpa*, *Ixora parviflora* and *Diospyros melanoxylon* contain 12.5%, 23.5% and 3.5% of fatty oil respectively.

F. microcarpa, I. parviflora and D. melanoxylon oils have iodine values of 105.3, 98.2, and 19.5, and saponification equivalents of 272.5, 270.0 and 264.2 respectively.

The mixed fatty acids, hydrogenated fatty acids, and oxidised fatty acids of oils were examined by reverse phase partition column chromatography on paraffin columns in each species. The chromatographic results on paraffin columns in terms of mole % were obtained. The wt. % thus obtained are given in Table 1.

F. microcarpa seed oil contains linoleic acid as the major component (56.4%) among the unsaturated acids, with smaller amount of oleic acid (6.1)%. The saturated acids are myristic (5.4%), palmitic (19.8%), stearic (9.7%), arachidic (1.4%) and behenic (1.2%).

I. parviflora seed oil contains 33.3% of saturated acids and 62.7% of unsaturated acids. The saturated acids are capric (1.3%), lauric (3.1%), myristic (4.7%), palmitic (11.4%), stearic (11.9%), arachidic (2.9%), and behenic (2.0%). The linoleic acid (44.0%) is the major component amongst the unsaturated acids with small amount of oleic acid (18.7%).

D. melanoxylon seed oil contains (79.1%) of saturated acid. The principal component amongst the saturated

TABLE	1. COMPONENT	ACIDS OF SEED	OILS
Fatty acids	F. microcarpa (wt. %)	I. parviflora (wt. %)	D. melanoxylon (wt. %)
Capric		1.3	_
Lauric	_	3.1	4.6
Myristic	5.4	4.7	9. <b>9</b>
Palmitic	19.8	11.4	37.9
Stearic	9.7	11.9	16.1
Arachidic	1.4	2.9	5.3
Behenic	1.2	2.0	5.3
Oleic	6.1	18.7	19.7
Linoleic	56.4	44.0	1.2

acids are palmitic (37.9%), and stearic (16.1%) with appreciable amount of myristic (9.9%). However, this seed oil also contains lauric (4.0%), arachidic (5.3%), and behenic (5.3%) acids. The major component among the unsaturated acids is only oleic (19.7%). However, very small amount of linoleic acid (1.2%)is observed in the present investigation.

#### Acknowledgement

Authors are grateful to Prof. E. S. Jayadevappa for his keen interest and encouragement.

#### References

- 1. Chopra, R. N., Nayar, S. L. and Chopra, I. C., Glossary of Indian medicinal plants, C.S.I.R., New Delhi, 1956, 121.
- 2. Cooke, T., Flora of Presidency of Bombay, Vol. II, 1967, 39.
- 3. The wealth of India-Raw materials, C.S.I.R., New Delhi, Vol. III, 1952, 81-83.
- Kartha, A.R.S., The glyceride structure of natural fats. I. A technique for the quantitative determination of glyceride types in natural fats, J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 1953, 30, 280.
- 5. Badami, R. C., Reversed phase partition column chromatography; A method for quantitative analysis of fatty acids, *Chemy Ind.*, 1964, 1920.

## A Study on Seliwanoff Colour Reaction for Estimation of Sucrose in Dairy Products

P. C. PANTULU, V. UNNIKRISHNAN AND M. K. RAMA MURTHY

Southern Regional Station, National Dairy Research Institute, Bangalore-560 030, India

Manuscript received 12 May 1981; revised 6 November 1981

The suitability of high temperature and short time for colour development in the estimation of sucrose in dairy products by Seliwanoff reaction is investigated. Lactose contributes towards colour after prolonged heating at high temperatures. However, interference by lactose is negligible when heating is restricted to 15 min. in a boiling water bath.

A method was reported<sup>1</sup> for the estimation of sucrose in ice-cream by Seliwanoff reaction.<sup>2</sup> Though the Seliwanoff colour reaction distinguishes a ketose from an aldose and thus makes it possible to estimate sucrose in the presence of lactose, there are reports that degradation products of aldoses could contribute to the colour.<sup>3</sup> Thus, interference due to degradation products has to be taken into account while employing high temperatures for colour development. Applicability of Seliwanoff reaction for estimation of sucrose in dairy products under different experimental conditions is reported in this paper.

#### Materials and Methods

Test solution: The test solution was essentially the same as reported earlier.<sup>1</sup> About 5 g of the sample was made to a convenient volume with distilled water. To an aliquot of the solution, 2 or 3 drops of a saturated solution cf lead acetate were added, made to volume and filtered through Whatman No. 4 filter paper.

Colour development: To 2 ml. of the filtrate containing not more than 0.1 mg of sucrose/ml.

taken in a test tube, 2 ml. of 0.1% resorcinol in water and 6 ml. of concentrated HCl were added and heated at different temperatures for different duration of time. The colour developed was measured in a spectrocolorimeter at 490 nm. Sucrose concentrations were read from a standard curve using sucrose.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Sucrose solutions on hydrolysis give a colour reaction when treated with resorcinol in acid medium. This reaction takes place at a faster rate at higher temperatures. Degradation products of carbohydrates might contribute towards colour intensity when higher temperatures are employed.<sup>3</sup> Further, a colour change from pink to yellow is observed during heating at Absorption spectra of the higher temperatures. resorcinol colour complex read at different stages during the colour change from pink to yellow showed absorption maxima around 405 nm at which wavelength absorbance increased with the temperature and duration of heating (Fig. 1). Though the absorbance was comparatively less at 490 nm, it was largely unaffected by small changes in heating time at boiling water



FIG. 1. Absorbance spectra of resorcinol sucrose colour complex.

bath temperature. Therefore, in further studies for the selection of suitable time-temperature combination for colour development, absorbance measurements were made at 490 nm as it would give better reproducibility. Further, interference from aldoses was less at this wave length as revealed by a study on lactose.

The absorbances at 490 nm of test solutions heated to 60, 70, 80 and 90 °C and boiling water indicated

that the colour development was slow at 60°C and the optimum was not reached even after 60 min. of heating (Fig. 2). Optimum absorbance could he achieved by maintaining the temperature at 70°C for 40 min.; higher temperatures however, lowered the heating time. Use of high temperatures however, had to be carried out with caution as it would favour the reaction of aldohexoses and strong acids to form hydroxy methyl furfural.<sup>4</sup> This compound is known to react with resorcinol and other phenolic compounds to form coloured products.<sup>5</sup> The formation of such coloured products from glucose produced by the inversion of sucrose would not be expected to interfere with the estimation when reference curve for sucrose concentrations is prepared under identical conditions. However, the interference due to lactose present in the milk product needed investigation.

Pure sucrose and lactose solutions as well as mixtures of sucrose and lactose in the ratio 2 : 1 were used for colour development at 70°C and at boiling water bath temperature. Absorbance measurements at 490nm showed no influence of lactose when the test solutions were heated at 70°C for upto 60 min. However, at the temperature of boiling water, lactose contributed towards colour, especially during prolonged heating (Fig. 3). Nevertheless, the influence of lactose was negligible when the duration of heating was restricted to 15 min. or less and when the proportion of lactose to sucrose was as high as 1 : 2. As the proportion of lactose would be much lower in dairy products like icecream and condensed milk, heating for 15 min.



FIG. 2. Effect of heating time and temperature on colour development.



FIG. 3. Effect of lactose on colour development in a boiling water bath.

Estimation

		Resorcinol			
<b>.</b> .	Lane-Eynon				
no.		Heating at 70°C	Heating at boiling		
	I	Ice cream			
1	15.43	15.33	15.38		
2	11.69	11.93	11.88		
3	13.32	13.7ó	13.38		
4	15.63	15.43	15.29		
5	10.00	9.70	9.50		
6	15.11	15.47	15.70		
7	15.95	15.64	15.56		
8	12.37	13.01	12.73		
9	16.69	16.75	17.19		
10	16.32	16.53	16.99		
11	14.16	14.25	14.63		
12	13.00	12.63	12.74		
13	13.04	12.84	12.73		
14	15.04	15.10	15.39		
15	15.18	15.70	15.47		
Mean	14.20	14.28	14.30		
	Con	densed milk			
1	41.17	40.0	38.50		
2	41.04	41.96	40.06		
3	42.50	40.00	43.30		
4	45.40	44.40	45.72		
5	41.17	40.00	40.75		
6	40.81	42.20	41.76		
7	41.04	40.08	40.06		
8	40.96	39.76	39.50		
9	41.07	40.0	42.40		
Mean	41.68	40.95	41.34		

TABLE 1. SUCROSE CONTENT (PER CENT) OF DAIRY PRODUCTS AS DETERMINED BY LANE-EYNON AND RESORCINOL METHOD TABLE 2. SUCROSE CONTENT (PER CENT) IN THE SAME SAMPLE OF ICE CREAM DETERMINED BY RESORCINOL METHOD AT TWO TEMPERATURES

Umuina

Usetine

Sumation	i icatili 5	Theating
no.	at 70°C	at boiling
1	15.70	15.47
2	15.32	15.64
3	15.38	15.33
4	15.56	15.43
5	15.49	15.72
6	15.47	15.39
7	15.29	15.68
8	15.46	15.44
9	15.36	15.61
10	15.63	15.49
Mean	15.47	15.52
Std. dev.	$\pm 0.14$	$\pm 0.13$

method<sup>6</sup> and the resorcinol colorimetric method employing these two time-temperature combinations. Statistical analysis showed that both the combinations gave satisfactory results comparable to standard volumetric method.

The reproducibility of the colorimetric method determined by replicate estimations on the same sample of icecream showed that the development of colour at higher temperatures did not affect the precision of the colorimetric method (Table 2).

#### References

- Pantulu, P. C., Sebastian, J., Unnikrishnan, V. and Bhimasena Rao, M., Colorimetric Estimation of Sucrose in Icecream, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1976, 13, 157.
- 2. Seliwanoff, T., Notiz Uber Eine Fruchtgucker Reaction, Chem. Ber., 1887, 20, 181.
- 3. Roe, J. H., A Colorimetric Method for the Determination of Fructose in Blood and Urine, J. hiol. Chem., 1934, 107, 15.
- Triebold, M. O., and Aurand, L. W., Food Composition and Analysis, Van Nastrand Reinhold CS., New York, 1963, 216.
- Dubois, M., Gilles, K. A., Hamilton J. K., Robers, P. A. and Smith, F., Colorimetric Method for Determination of Sugars and Relaced Substances, *Anal. Chem.*, 1956, 28, 350.
- 6. Indian Standard Specification for Ice Cream; IS 2802-1964, 17, Indian Standards Institution, New Delhi.

at boiling waterbath temperature could be employed with advantage. When the proportion of lactose is higher, as in flavoured milk, heating at lower temperature should be preferred.

The two time-temperature combinations. 40 min. at 70°C and 15 min. at boiling water bath were, therefore, selected for the estimation of sucrose in dairy products. Table 1 gives the sucrose contents in 15 samples of icecream and 9 samples of condensed milk as determined by the Lane-Eynon volumetric

## Studies on the Production of Kulfi Part-I. The Acceptable Level of Total Milk Solids

M. K. SALOOJA AND R. BALACHANDRAN National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, India

Manuscript received 30 April 1981; revised 17 February 1982

Kulfi is an indigenous frozen dessert. Composition of Kulfi as sold in market varies widely. A study has been taken up to standardize the composition of Kulfi. The acceptable level of total milk solids in Kulfi prepared from cow milk was determined by sensory evaluation by a panel of judges. On the basis of trials, the concentration of milk to 26 % T. S. is found to yield Kulfi with better body, texture and overall acceptability.

Kulfi is an indigenous frozen milk product and like icecream it is palatable and nutritious. The involvement of equipment and machinery in the manufacture of Kulfi is minimum. Due to its palatability and comparatively low cost, Kulfi is popular in many parts of the country. Very little work has been reported on standard method of preparation and factors that affect the quality of Kulfi in terms of chemical composition or on consumer's preference. The method of producing Kulfi varies widely resulting in variation in composition, quality and cost of the product. Due to non availability of standardised process for its manufacturers, very few organisations are manufacturing on a commercial scale. Another drawback on large scale production is that PFA regulations do not differentiate between plain icecream and Kulfi with regard to its composition. Manufacture of Kulfi has been described by various workers.<sup>1-3</sup> However, detailed study such as the effect of total solids on textural qualities and overall acceptability have not been worked out. The present investigation was therefore, undertaken to standardise the method for the production of kulfi on commercial scale and evaluate the product by sensory methods.

#### Materials and Methods

Cow milk: Pooled raw cow milk obtained from NDRI experimental dairy was standardised to a fat content of 3.5%.

Sugar: White crystalline sugar was used as sweetening agent and it was presumed to contain 100 per cent total solids.

*Freezing mixture*: Ice and coarse salt in the ratio of 4 : 1 was used for preparation of freezing mixture for freezing *Kulfi*.

Kulfi cones: Aluminium cone, with screw type lid of 100-120 ml. capacity was used in the experiments. *Pitcher*: Earthen pot of 29.1. capacity was used for freezing Kulfi cone with ice-salt mixture

Heating and concentration unit: Stainless steel jacketted steam kettle and laddle for stirring were used.

Standardization and concentration of mix: Raw cow milk standardized to 3.5% fat and 8.5 per cent SNF was concentrated in an open pan jacketted steam heated vessel with constant stirring until the required solids content was attained. Slow heating was done to avoid burnt particles in final product. Kulfi mix was then filled in Kulfi cones. The filled cones were immersed in freezing mixture contained in earthen pot and frozen with intermittent shaking according to method of Salooja.<sup>4</sup> In all the trials, 2–5 kg. of Kulfi mix of desirable composition was prepared. The details of various steps in Kulfi preparation are



Fig. 1. Flow chart for Kulfi preparation.

presented in the flow chart (Fig. 1). The Kulfi mix was prepared from standardized cow milk concentrated to following total milk solids levels: 17 per cent (T 1), 20 per cent (T 2), 23 per cent (T 3), 26 per cent (T 4) and 29 per cent (T 5). These levels of concentration were arbitrarily choosen. In all trials, sugar was maintained at 13 per cent level

Sensory evaluation: A panel consisting of six judges evaluated Kulfi samples for body, texture and overall quality by a 9-point hedonic scale. The panelists were familiar with the characteristics of the product.

Statistical analysis: The data were subjected to analysis of variance according to procedure outlined by Snedecor and Cochran.<sup>5</sup>

#### **Results and Discussion**

Table 1 gives the composition of Kulfi prepared with different levels of milk solids. The average fat and solids-non-fat (SNF) contents of Kulfi increased with the increase in total milk solids. For instance, when mix was concentrated to 29 per cent total milk solids, the fat content of Kulfi increased from the initial value of 3.5 to 8.7 per cent. The increase in fat and SNF per cent in Kulfi mixes increased in proportion to the concentration of standardised cow milk used in these trials. Data pertaining to sensory evaluation of Kulfi are presented in Table 2.

Body: The average scores for body attribute were 5.19, 6.17, 6.90, 7.20 and 6.99 for 17, 20, 23, 26 and 29 per cent total solids respectively. The different treatments were observed to be significantly different. (P < 0.05). Kulfi with 26 per cent total solids was rated superior by panelists. Kulfi with 29, 26 and 23 per cent T. S. scored almost same values indicating that the body of Kulfi with these total solids was almost similar in quality.

The reason for comparatively low rating for higher

TABLE 1. FAT, SNF AND TOTAL MILK SOLIDS CONTENT OF KULFI

PREPAR	ED FROM DIFFER	ENT LEVELS OF N	AILK SOLIDS
Milk solids			Total
content	Fat	SNF	solids
(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
	Mean $\pm$ SE	Mean $\pm$ SE	Mean $\pm$ SE
17	5.18 ± 0.066	11.98 ± 0.066	17.16 ± 0.051
20	6.12 ± 0.049	14.26 $\pm$ 0.194	$20.38 \pm 0.225$
23	7.02 ± 0.049	$16.22 \pm 0.16$	$\textbf{23.24} \pm \textbf{0.150}$
26	7.88 ± 0.037	$18.30\pm0.152$	26.18 ± 0.139
29	8.68 ± 0.020	20.52 ± 0.065	29.22 ± 0.120

TABLE	2.	SENSORY	EVALUATION	OF	KULFI	

Milk solids content (%)	Body	Texture	Overall acceptability
17	5.19	4.99	4.76
20	6.16	6.39	5.70
23	6.90	6.73	6.76
26	7.20	7.36	6.86
29	6.99	7.13	6.59
	_		

total solids (29 per cent) may be due to heavy and soggy body in *Kulfi*. Ice cream with higher total solids content also gives a heavy and soggy product.<sup>6</sup> Less total solids in *Kulfi* on the other hand give weak and crumbly body, Hence, optimum level of total solids are desirable to have good body characteristics.

Texture: The average scores for texture were 4.99, 6.39, 6.73, 7.36 and 7.13 for 17, 20, 23, 26 and 29 per cent total solids respectively. It is also seen that the texture scores for different total solids content were also significant (P < 0.05); highest score for texture was obtained for Kulfi containing 26% total solids. Sommer7 reported that an increased total solids content resulted in apparent improvement of texture, which was due to incomplete freezing of product. This may be the reason for insignificant difference in critical difference.

In case of ice cream, higher total solids help to improve the smoothness. That the highest solids level under present study (29 per cent) had scored less in terms of texture, may be due to presence of coarse denatured particles in *Kulfi* on account of heating and concentration of milk.

Over all quality of the product: The average score for over all quality for T 1, T 2, T 3, T 4 and T 5 were 4.76, 5.70, 6.76, 6.86 and 6.59 respectively. The overall quality scores for different treatments were not significantly different. Highest average score (6.76) was for Kulfi with 26% total solids. Kulfi with 23, 26 and 29 per cent total solids gave almost similar average scores.

The present study has shown that if cow milk with 3.5% fat and 8.5% SNF is used in the preparation of *Kulfi*, the concentration of milk to 26 per cent total solids is expected to yield *Kulfi* of better body texture and over all quality. But at this level of total milk solids, the *Kulfi* is expected to have an average of 7.9% fat. But this *Kulfi* sample will fall short of statutory regulation (minimum of 10%) with regard to fat content.

- 1. Warner, J. N., Dairyirg in India, MacMillan Co. Ltd., Calcutta, 1959.
- 2. Parikh, J. V., *Technology of Dairy Products*, Small Business Publications, Delhi, 1977.
- 3. Rao, K. S., Reddy, P. C. and Reddy, S. A., *The industrial* method for manufacture of Kulfi, XV Dairy Industry Conference, Hyderabad, 1979.
- Salooja, M. K., Studies on standardization of tecaniques for Kulfi production, M.Sc. thesis, Kurukshetra University, 1979.
- 5. Sendecor, G. W. and Cochran, W. G., Statistical Methods, The Iowa State University Press, Iowa, U.S.A., 1967.
- 6. Arbuckle, W., Ice Cream, Avi, Westport, Connecticut, 1977.
- 7. Sommer, H. H., Theory and Practice of Ice Crean Making, Madison, Wisconsin, 1951.

## A Study on the Bionomics of Major Insect Species Infesting Cashew Kernels

S. P. PILLAI AND M. MUTHU

Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-13

Manuscript received 2 June 1980; revised 14 December 1981

In a survey conducted at the major cashew processing units, *T. castaneum*, *E. cautella* and *O. surinamensis* were identified as the major insect pests of processed cashew kernels. Laboratory investigation on five species of insects showed that *T. castaneum* had a low population growth rate as measured by 'intrinsic rate of natural increase per week' and 'theoretical rate of self multiplication'. However, *T. castaneum* was the most predominant and was successfully growing under the ecological conditions prevalent in the cashew processing units. Though the temperature and humidity conditions prevailing at the processing units were conducive to the faster multiplication of the moth species, the interspecific competition and probably, ecological adaptability of *T.castaneum* will continue to make it the most important pest infesting processed cashew kernels.

In a commodity of high monetary value like cashew kernels, the tolerance level of insect infestation approaches zero. Though earlier studies report a large number of insects associated with cashew processing units<sup>1-3</sup>, they do not provide an insight into the status of individual species as pests of processed cashew kernels. A survey of major, foci of insect development and identification of the species found associated with cashew kernels and raw nuts in processing units, provided the basic foundation for laboratory studies. Tribolium castaneum (Herbst) was the most predominant insect in all processing units surveyed. oryzaephilus surinamensis (Linn) and Ephestia cautella (Walker) were the other major species infesting cashew kernels. The imported rawnuts in storage showed infestation by O. surinamensis, T. castaneum, Sitophilus oryzae (Linn), Cryptclestes ferrugineus (Stephens) and E. cautella.

Samples of dust material in gunny bags used for storage of rawnuts contained dead *Tenebroides mauri*tanieus (Linn), Ahasverus advena (Waltl.) Necrobia rufipes (Degeer), T. castaneum and O. surinamensis. Cracks and crevices of processing floor, store and grading room frequently harboured *T. castaneum*, *E. cautella* and *C. ferrugineus*. *T. castaneum* and *Alphitobius piceus* (Oliv) were observed in empty baskets and polyethylene covers.

Population dynamics has often been calculated from the laboratory experimental data and the method is based on life and fecundity tables adapted by Leslie and Park<sup>4</sup> and Howe<sup>5</sup>.<sup>6</sup>.

#### Materials and Methods

One hundred, 1 day old eggs of *T. castaneum* were released on to 125 g of freshly processed W-320 grade cashew kernels kept in 77 mm(dia), 90 mm (ht) open top sanitary can. The mouth of the can was covered with a cloth and fixed by rubber band. One set of treatment with four replications was incubated at  $25\pm2.5$ °C and  $65\pm5$ %R.H. (ambient conditions in the laboratory) and another set of four replications at  $32\pm1$ °C and  $80\pm1$ % R.H. in a Gallenkamp humidifying oven. The developmental period from egg to adult 'd' in weeks and the percentage of eggs which matured into adults 'p' were recorded according to Howe.<sup>5</sup>

Insect species	Incubation (emp. (°c)	R. H. (%)	Developmental period 'd' (wk)	Oviposition period 'l' (wk)	No. of eggs laid / female '2n'	Maturity proportion 'p'
T. castaneum	25 <u>+</u> 2.5	65±5	6	28	360	0.28
	$32 \pm 1.0$	80±1	5	7	539	0.43
O. surinamensis	25±2.5	65±5	7	30	211	0.48
	32,±1.0	80±1	4	21	287	0.72
E. cautella	25±2.5	65±5	4	1	103	0.54
	$32 \pm 1.0$	80±1	3	1	108	0.48
C. cephalonica	25±2.5	65±5	7	1	97	0.32
	$32 \pm 1.0$	80±1	5	1	126	0.41
S. paniceum	$25 \pm 2.5$	65±5	8	2	71	0.58
	$32 \pm 1.0$	80 <u>+</u> 1	8	1	58	0.37

TABLE 1. LIFE TABLE AND FECUNDITY DATA ON FIVE SPECIES OF STORED PRODUCT INSECTS BREEDING IN CASHEW KERNELS

Simultaneously, 15 pairs of freshly emerged adult *T. castaneum* were released to 10 g finely powdered meal of fresh cashew kernels sieved to pass through 35 mesh standard Tyler's sieve and kept in petri dishes. The meal was sieved in 35 mesh sieve twice weekly to recover the eggs and recorded as eggs per 15 females, from which number of eggs per female '2n' and number of female eggs per female 'n' were computed. The oviposition period 'l' in weeks was arrived at by recording the beginning and cessation of egg laying. The experiments were done in four replications and at the two temperature and humidity levels.

The two sets of experiments were repeated with O. surinamensis, E. cautella, C. cephalonica and S. paniceum. The life table and fecundity data from the experiments are presented in Table 1.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Ecological significance is natural to an assumption that the unhindered growth of a population which has settled down to a stable proportion of age groups is geometric, the numbers increasing by a constant factor ' $\lambda$ ' called 'the theoretical rate of self-multiplication per week'. 'The intrinsic rate of natural increase' represented by ' $r_m$ ' is an index of increase of a species under specified set of physical conditions given adequate food supply and space<sup>4</sup>. The ' $r_m$ ' and ' $\lambda$ ' values computed from the life and fecundity data under the two temperature and humidity conditions in respect of the five pest species studied is presented in Table 2.

The intrinsic rate of natural increase per week  $(r_m)$  as well as the 'theoretical rate of self multiplicate

per week' ( $\lambda$ ) was greater at the higher temperature and humidity conditions in all species studied except S. paniceum. At  $32 \pm 1$ °C and  $80 \pm 1$ % R.H, E. cautella showed the highest intrinsic rate of natural increase and theoretical rate of self multiplication. At  $25 \pm 2.5$ °C and  $65 \pm 5$ % R.H. the test species in descending order of their  $r_m$  and  $\lambda$  per week

TABLE 2.	STATIS	TICS OF	POP	ULATION	DYNAMICS	OF
FIVE	INSECT	SPECIES	IN	CASHEW	KERNELS	

Insect Spp.	Intrinsic rate increas (rm	ntrinsic rate of natural increase/wk. (rm)		l rate of self ation/wk. λ)
	25°C and 65% RH	32°C and 80% RH	25°C and 65% RH	32°C and 80% RH
E. cautella	0.32	0.40	2.09	2.54
C. cephalonica	0.16	0.26	1.44	1.81
T. castaneum	0.08	0.24	1.22	1.75
O. surinamensis	0.08	0.14	1.19	1.38
S. paniceum	0.14	0.12	1.40	1.32
Note: rm =	$\frac{\log np}{d + \frac{1}{2}l}$	$\lambda$ - the r	natural antil	og of rm.

Where, n is the number of female eggs<sup>\*</sup>,

p is the proportion of female eggs that survive and mature.

d is the development period in units of weeks.

*l* is the oviposition period in units of weeks.

\*Number of eggs that will hatch out into female insects, where sex-ratio is assumed to be 1:1, this is half the total number of eggs.

were E. cautella, C. cephalonica, S. paniceum, T. castaneum and O. surinamensis. The results showed good agreement with the reported<sup>7</sup> estimate of optimal conditions for population increase for the species. Although the innate capacity for increasing of a pest species derived from laboratory experiments are figures of limited application, as opined by Solomon<sup>8</sup>, the parameter gives an approximate measure of actual characteristic of the species which enter fundamentally into its population dynamics, however, greatly their expressions may be modified in nature.

A predominance of T. castaneum was observed in the natural ecosystem of cashew processing units over species with higher intrinsic rate of natural increase and theoretical rate of self multiplication under laboratory conditions. This is attributed to the modification of population dynamics due to ecological factors like interspecific competition, availability of food and foci of development. This inference is well borne out by the findings of Adevemi<sup>9</sup> on competition between T. cas: aneum and three moth species infesting groundnuts in which T. castaneum reduced the intrinsic rate of moth increase, while moths did not affect the rate of increase of T. castaneum to the same extent under conditions of competition for food and space. Hence as a result of competition for food and or space with T. castaneum, the moth species are likely to be exterminated despite their apparently higher intrinsic rate of increase. Under ecological condition existing in the processing units, the extermination of moth species by natural inter-

specific competition is very unlikely, though predominance of *T. castaneum* is widely observed.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to Sri S. K. Majumder for his keen interest and guidance in the studies. The help rendered by Sri K. V. Sanjeevarayappa by providing the insect cultures is also appreciated.

#### References

- 1. Pillai, P. R. P., Fruit and Vegetable Preservation Industry in India, Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore, 1956.
- 2. Pillai, P. R. P., Infestation in Cashew Kernels, Cashew Pepper Bull., 1956, 3 (4), 5.
- 3. Pinheira, M. F. V., The arthropods attacking cashewnuts in warehouses and factories, *Garcia de Orto*, 1968, 16 (3), 293.
- 4. Leslie, P. H. and Park, T., The intrinsic rate of natural increase of *Tribolium castaneum* (Hbst), *Ecology*, 1949, 30, 469.
- Howe, R. W., The rapid determination of intrinsic rate of increase of an insect population, *Ann. appl. Biol.*, 1953, 10, 134.
- Howe, R. W., The prediction of the status of a pest by means of laboratory experiments, Wld. Rev. Pest Control, 1963, 2(1), 30.
- 7. Howe, R. W., A summary of estimates of optimal and minimal conditions for population increase of some stored product insects, J. Stored Prod. Res., 1965, 1, 177.
- 8. Solomon, M. E., Dynamics of insect populatior, Annu. Rev. Ent., 1957, 2, 121.
- 9. Adeyemi, S. A. O., Competition between *Tribolium castaneum* and three moth species, *Bull. ent. Res.*, 1968, 58, 31.

#### BIOCHEMICAL EFFECTS OF RAPE SEED MEAL IN ALBINO RATS

A 4-week trial was conducted with male albino rats to ascertain the effect of different protein levels of rape seed meal (RSM) on growth rate and changes in carbohydrate and protein metabolism in various tissues. The levels of muscle aminotransferases increased, whereas liver glycogen decreased significantly in RSM (10%) fed animals as compared to case in fed animals. The other biochemical parameters examined remained unaltered. The animals fed RSM at 5% level showed an increase in liver glycogen content while blood glucose, protein of both liver and muscle as well as aminotransferases of muscles decreased significantly in comparison with group fed 10% RSM. However, the muscle glycogen and liver aminotransferases did not vary significantly in both RSM fed animals. Furthermore, significant decrease was also observed in growth rate cf both RSM groups. Thus, it is suggestive that RSM intake disturbs the metabolic homeostasis and cannot be recommended as such for animal consumption.

The maintenance of metabolic homeostasis depends upon the simultaneous interplay of several regulatory mechanisms. The biological values of rape seed meal (RSM) have earlier been carried out by studying the growth<sup>1</sup>, nitrogen metabolism<sup>2</sup> and its nutritive utility.<sup>3</sup> The changes in metabolic and enzyme activity patterns on feeding rape seed protein at different levels to animals have not been delineated. In view of this, the present study was designed to investigate changes in protein and carbohydrate metabolism in various tissues which included protein, aspartate (GOT) and alanine (GPT) aminotransferases as well as glycogen and glucose on feeding different levels of rape seed protein in albino rats.

Male albino rats (Wistar strain maintained at H.A.U. Hissar) weighing 80-120 g, were housed individually in cages in a room under a conventional lighting schedule with a dark night. Food pallets from M/s Hind Lever Ltd. Incla were supplied in fixed aluminium pots for 4-5 days to adapt the animals to new surroundings and water was made available *ad libitum*. The animals were then reweighed and divided into three groups. Each rat was weighed weekly and a record of daily food intake was maintained.

The rape seed (Brassica campestris, var. toria) grown in Amritsar district (Ir.dia) was procured, cleaned, ground and made free from oil using successive extraction. Experimental diets containing case in 10%(A), RSM (rape seed meal) to provide 10%(B) and 5%(C) protein were prepared<sup>4</sup> and was given *ad lib* for four weeks to respective groups.

At the end of the experimental period, the animals were starved for 12-15 hr and then killed by decapitation. Their blood was collected by using anticoagulant for determining blood glucose.<sup>5</sup> Part of the liver and gastrocnemius muscle of each hind leg were rapidly excised for the determination of glycogen,6 protein7, alanine and aspartate amino transferases.8 These samples were blotted free of blood, placed in small polythene bags and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C. Estimations were carried out either on fresh samples on the day of sacrifice or on samples stored at -20°C. The analysis of all biochemical parameters were performed Means and standard errors were in duplicate. calculated for each group and significance was found out by applying paired 't' test.

The changes in growth, carbohydrate and protein metabolism on feeding different levels of rape seed protein in albino rats are presented in Table 1. Groups B and C consumed on an average only 58 and 64% of food, 55 and 31% protein respectively as compared to the casein 10% group (A). Growth rate of group B animals was significantly lower than group A, but it is similar to that of group C. The fasting levels of GOT and GPT in muscles increased, whereas liver glycogen decreased significantly in group B as compared to group A animals. The other biochemical parameters investigated did not show any appreciable changes.

The liver glycogen contents of group C animals increased, while blood glucose, protein of both liver and muscle and GOT and GPT of muscles decreased significantly in comparison to group B. On the other hand, muscle glycogen, liver GOT and GPT did not vary significantly in groups B and C.

The present study reveals the effect of quality (B Vs A) and quantity (B Vs C) of protein intake on the various biochemical parameters in rats. The results indicate a decrease in liver glycogen and simultaneous increase in GOT and GPT activity of muscles of rats fed on RSM 10% in comparison to casein 10%. However, such changes are not associated with a parallel increase in blood glucose. This decreased level of blood glucose might be due to their increased capacity to move glucose from blood into peripheral tissues for utilization which may be accompanied by increased stimulation of  $\beta$ -islets of langerhans of pancreas. Similar findings have earlier been demonstrated in malnourished animals<sup>9,10</sup>.

I ABLE I. BIOC	HEMICAL EFFI	ECTS OF RAPE SEED MEA	AL DIEL ON KAIS	
Diet	Tissues	Casein 10%(A) Mean ± S. E.	RSM 10%(B) Mean $\pm$ S. E.	RSM 5%(C) Mean $\pm$ S. E.
Food intake (g/rat/28 days)	_	178.92 ± 24.08	104.37* ± 21.20	114.24 ± 19.32
Body wt. (g/rat/28 days)		$115.60 \pm 6.20$	69.00* <u>+</u> 1.79	77.80* ± 3.34
Glucose (mg/100 ml)	Blood	111.18 ± 13.77	$95.83 \pm 6.53$	65.83* ± 4.55
Glycogen (mg/g)	Liver Muscle	$\begin{array}{rrr} 48.80 \pm & 1.20 \\ 11.00 \pm & 1.30 \end{array}$	$16.40^{*} \pm 1.30$ 10.40 $\pm 0.30$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 29.20^{*} \pm & 4.00 \\ 11.10 \ \pm & 0.07 \end{array}$
Protein (mg/g)	Liver Muscle	$136.49 \pm 2.80$ 169.70 $\pm 1.10$	$142.75 \pm 3.45$ 169.90 $\pm$ 0.78	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 122.52^{*} \pm & 0.94 \\ 137.98^{*} \pm & 1.48 \end{array}$
Aspartate aminotransferase (units/100 mg)	Liver Muscle	$\begin{array}{rrr} 20.70 \pm & 0.13 \\ 20.20 \pm & 0.63 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	$21.30 \pm 0.36$ $17.60^* \pm 0.16$
Alanine aminotransferase (units/100 mg)	Liver Muscle	$33.30 \pm 0.96$ 26.60 $\pm 0.80$	$36.50 \pm 0.30$ 29.50* $\pm 0.20$	$35.00 \pm 0.30$ 20.90* $\pm 0.46$
Enzyme units = $\mu$ g of oxaloacetate or pyru	vate released	/min	*p < 0.05	

Initial body wt for all groups were  $107.00 \pm 4.35$ 

Feeding ad libitum for 4 weeks.

Munro *et al.*<sup>11</sup> reported that the composition of the diet, specifically the administration of different proteins, decreases the liver glycogen and blood glucose content, which is also observed in the present study. However, the protein content of both liver and muscle remained unaltered (Table 1). The decreased level of blood glucose and increased liver glycogen content in group C animals as compared to B shows a positive correlation.

The low muscle and liver protein concentration of group C rats may be due to less protein content in the diet. Both GPT and GOT activity in muscles decreases in group C as compared to group B animals. These observations are in agreement with those of Heard *et al.*<sup>12</sup> The liver GPT and GOT activity as well as muscle glycogen content appeared to be unaffected by any of these dietary treatments.

It is also necessary to note the greatly reduced rate of growth and food intake. In the present study, both RSM group rats were significantly stunted and equally short of food (energy) as judged by normal requirements (casein  $10\frac{2}{0}$ ). The above results can be explained because of less palatability and digestibility of RSM protein than control protein<sup>2,13</sup>.

Biochemistry Laboratory,	S. K. Garg
Dept of Biology,	A. K. Sharma
Guru Nanak Dev University,	L. Singh
Amritsar-143 005.	J. S. UPPAL
Received 30 April 1981	
Revised 28 October 1981	

#### References

1. Edozien, J. C. and Switzer, B. R., Influence of diet on growth in the rat, Am. Inst. Nutr., 1978, 108, 2.

- 2. Bell, J. M., Giovannetti, P., Sharby, T. F. and Jones, J. D., Digestibility and protein quality evaluation of rape seed flour, *Con. J. Anim. Sci.*, 1976, 56, 763.
- 3. Agren, G. and Eklund, A., Rapeseed protein fractions, III. The nutritive value of a detoxified protein concentrate prepared from rapeseed by hydraulic processing, J. Sci. Fd. Agric., 1972, 23, 1457.
- Official Methods of Analysis, Ed. W. Horwitz, Association of official analytical chemists, Washington, DC., 12th ed., 1975, 857.
- 5. Sharma, N. C. and Sur, B. K., Improved method for estimating blood sugar, J. clin. Pathol., 1966, 19, 630.
- Montogomery, R., Determination of glycogen (Phenol-H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> method), Arch. Biochem. Biophys., 1957, 67, 379.
- Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr., A. L. and Randall, R. J., Protein measurements with folin-phenol reagent, J. biol. Chem., 1951, 193, 265.
- Mohun, A. F. and Cook, I. J. Y., Colorimetric method for aspartate and alanine transaminases using 2:4 dinitrophenyl hydrazine, J. clin. Pathol., 1957, 10, 394.
- 9. Heard, C. R. C., Effects of severe protein calorie deficiency on the endocrine control of carbohydrate metabolism, *Diabetes*, 1966, 15, 78.
- Singh, K. N., Chandra, V. and Barthwal, K. C., Hypoglycaemic activity of Acacia arabica, A. benthami and A. modesta leguminous seed diets in normal young rats, J. Physiol. Pharmac., 1975, 19, 167.
- Munro, H. N., Clark, C. M. and Goodlad, G. A. J., Loss of liver glycogen after administration of protein or amino acids, *Biochem. J.*, 1961, 80, 453.
- Heard, C. R. C., Frangi, S. M., Wright, P. M. and McCartney, P. R., Biochemical characteristics of different forms of protein-energy malnutrition: an experimental model using young rats, *Brit. J. Nutr.*, 1977, 37, 1.
- Sarwar, G., Shannon, W. F. and Bowland, J. P., Effect of processing conditions on the availability of amino acids in soybean and rapeseed proteins when fed to rats, J. Inst. Can. Sci. Technol. Aliment., 1975, 8, 137.

#### STUDIES ON THE NUTRITIONAL QUALITY OF SOME VARIETIES OF MUNG BEAN

#### (Vigna radiata)

A study of nutritional composition cf nine mung varieties was carried out. The proximate principles except fat, energy value and phosphorus contents did not exhibit any significant differences. Thousand kernel weight, crushing hardness, calcium, iron, methionine and tryptophan ranged from 24.07 to 53.18 g, 1.95 to 3.78 kg/seed, 88 to 198 mg, 3.70 to 8.80 mg, 160 to 360 mg and 219 to 578 mg/100 g dry weight respectively. Values varying from 9.29 to 16.57%, 0.35 to 1.98%, 7.96 to 14.59% and from 52.30 to 66.62% were noticed for total, reducing and non-reducing sugars, and biological value respectively. Varieties 'K 851' and 'PS 16' appear to be quite promising from the nutritional angle.

Pulses are essential components in the human dietary in providing the amino acid balance needed for normal growth and maintenance of health of a majority of Indian population. They contain twice as much protein as cereals and a complementary pattern of amino acids, but are low in oil and sulphur containing amino acids. Yohe and Poehlman<sup>1</sup> have observed wide genetic variations for protein, lysine and methionine contents in large population of mung bean strains. The biological value of pulse proteins ranged from 32.0 to 78.0 per cent<sup>2</sup>,<sup>3</sup>. In this communication, we have examined the variability of nutritional quality parameters in nine mung varieties for exploring their possible use for development of nutritionally superior varieties.

Grain samples of 'K 851', 'H 70-16', 'PS 16', 'PS 7', 'T 44', 'T 51', 'Cot 71', 'S-8' and 'S R' were received from the Department of Plant Breeding, Haryana Agricultural University, Hissar during 1977. The unsplit whole grain was used to judge crushing hardness with the help of hardness tester (Ogawa Seiki, Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Moisture, ether extract, mineral matter, calcium and iron contents were estimated by AOAC methods.<sup>4</sup> Protein content was determined by the method of McKenzie and Wallace<sup>5</sup> and the food energy value was computed from the data of proximate principles assuming that protein and carbohydrates each yield 4.0 Kcal/g and fats 9 Kcal/g. Methionine and tryptophan were estimated by colorimetric methods of Horn et al.6, Smith and Agiza<sup>7</sup> and their chemical scores were worked out in comparison with hen's egg ratio.<sup>8</sup> Protein quality was assessed from the biological value (B. V.) calculated by chemical score method cf Block and Mitchell<sup>9</sup> using the equation,  $Y=102-0.634 \times \text{where } Y$  is **B.** V. and  $\times$  is percentage methionine deficiency in mung with reference to whole egg protein. Phosphorus was determined by the method of Dickman and Bray<sup>10</sup> and reducing sugars by Hulme and Narain<sup>11</sup> and the extract for total sugars was prepared by the

		TABLE	1. QUALIT	Y CONSTIT	UENTS OF N	IUNG VARI	ETIES			
Constituent	K 851	H 70–16	PS 16	P 57	T 44	T 51	Cot 71	S-8	$S \times R$	Mean
1000 kernel wt (g)	34.57	53.18	27.97	40.55	31.63	29.45	24.03	25.85	35.89	32.57
Seed hardness (kg/seed)	1.93	3.63	2.26	2.12	2.14	2.40	1.96	3.78	2.94	2.57
Moisture (%)	8,78	8.9)	9.30	8.90	9.14	8.46	8.82	8.64	8.40	8.82
Crude protein (%)	27.71	27.77	26.19	25.64	26.46	27.11	23.92	25.95	24.66	26.16
Minerals (%)	4.03	3.73	3.96	3.87	3.76	4.03	3.96	3.55	3.88	3.90
Total carbohydrate (%)	58.38	57.34	58.29	60.15	60.09	58.88	60.36	<b>59</b> .89	61.38	59.41
Crude fat (%)	1.10	2.21	2.27	1.44	1.50	1.52	1.50	1.97	1.68	1.69
Energy (Kcal)	354.3	36C.3	358.3	356.1	359.7	357.6	350.6	361.3	359.3	357.5
Calcium (mg/100 g)	198	132	154	165	88	152	110	142	<b>9</b> 8	138
Phosphorus (mg/100g)	461	467	453	461	467	453	461	463	457	461
Iron (mg/100 g)	8.80	4.73	5.94	4.73	5.28	7.85	5.28	3.70	4.36	5.63
Methionine (mg/100g)	360	310	360	250	220	250	160	240	250	270
Chemical score (methionine)	41.9	39.4	44.2	31.5	30.0	33.0	21.6	29.8	32.6	33.2
Biological value (%)	65.17	63.70	6 <b>6</b> .62	58.60	57.62	59.52	52.30	57.50	57.30	59.80
Tryptophan (mg/100g)	579	542	520	472	571	458	571	446	219	480
Chemical score										
(Tryptophan)	130.6	121.8	118.7	115.6	135.0	105.6	148.7	107.5	77.53	114.7
Total sugars (%)	11.15	13.)1	9.29	14.87	11.15	12 89	13.01	12.89	16.57	12.74
Reducing sugar (%)	1.48	1.11	1.35	1.67	0.36	1.24	1.01	1.42	1.98	1.29
Non-reducing sugars(%)	9.67	11.30	7.94	13.20	10.79	11.65	12.00	11.47	14.59	11.45

method followed by Srinivasan and Bhatia<sup>12</sup> and non-reducing sugars were obtained by difference.

The thousand kernel weight varies from 24.03 to 53.18 g and crushing hardness from 1.93 to 3.78 kg/ seed, whereas the mean observed was 32.57 g and 2.57kg/ seed respectively (Table 1). Rathnaswamy *et al.*<sup>13</sup> and Manimekalai *et al.*<sup>14</sup> observed varietal differences for seed index, bulk density and specific gravity in red gram. Seed size is an objective index of milling value<sup>15</sup>, whereas the grain hardness is governed by the adhesion between starch and storage proteins.<sup>16</sup>

The moisture content varied from 8.46 in 'T 51' to 9.30 in 'PS 16' with an average of 8.82 per cent. The maximum value for protein content (27.77%) was noticed in 'H 70-16' and minimum (23.92%) in 'Cot 71', whereas the average observed was 26.16 per cent. The total mineral matter (as per cent) ranged from 3.55 in 'S-8' to 4.03 in 'K 851' and 'T 51' and energy value from 350.62 to 360.33 Kcal/ 100 g. Variety 'K 851' had the lowest fat content (1.10%) and 'PS 16' the highest (2.27%). These results are in agreement with those of Khan and Baker<sup>17</sup>, and Gupta and Wagle.<sup>18</sup>

The calcium content varied from 88 to 198 mg/100 g and the iron content from 3.70 to 8.80 mg/100 g. The variability for phosphorus content among varieties was almost negligible. The lowest calcium to phosphorus ratio of '0.189' was observed in 'T 44' and the highest 0.428 in 'K 851'. Desirable ratio for calcium to phosphorus has been recognised to lie between 2:1 and 1:1 for adequate nutrition<sup>19</sup>. The higher values 219 to 759 mg/100 g obtained for tryptophan in the present investigation are not in agreement with those reported by Gopalan et al.<sup>20</sup> The possible reasons may be the variations in variety, location, environmental conditions, fertilizer dose and analytical methods. Variety 'FS 16' had the highest (360 mg/100 g) content of methionine with a chemical score of 44.20 and biological value of 66.62%, whereas the var 'Cot 71' showed the lowest value for all the above mentioned three constituents. The reported results are not close to the findings of Gupta and Wagle.<sup>18</sup> Values ranging between 32 and 78 per cent for biological value reported by Jaffee<sup>2</sup> and Patwardhan<sup>3</sup> for pulses, lend support to the present findings.

Most of the varieties analysed contained more than ten per cent water soluble carbohydrates and the average value was 12.74 per cent. The variety 'T 44' showed the lowest content of 0.36% and the variety 'S × R', the highest (1.98%) reducing sugars, whereas the non-reducing sugars varied from 7.94 to 14.59 per cent. During four days of germination, soluble sugars varied from 9.00 to 0.39%, whereas reducing and non-reducing sugars, varied from 2.40 to 0.13 and 7.16 to 0.32% respectively in pulses.<sup>21</sup>

It may, therefore, be concluded that mung bean varieties 'K 851', 'H 70-16' and 'PS 16' appear to be nutritionally superior to other varieties studied.

Central Quality Testing Laboratory,	D. R. Sood
Dept of Chemistry & Biochemistry,	D. S. WAGLE
Haryana Agricultural University,	KULDIP SINGH DHINDSA
Hissar–125 004, India.	
Received 9 March 1981	
Revised 6 August 1981	

#### References

- Yohe, J. M. and Poehlman, J. M., Genetic variability in mung bean Vigna radiata L Willizek, Crop Sci., 1972, 12, 461.
- 2. Jaffe, W. G. El valor biologico comparativo de algunas leguminosas de importanicia enla alimentacion venezolana, *Arch. Venez* Nut., 1950, 1, 107.
- 3. Patwardhan, V. N., Pulses and bean in human nutrition., Amer J. clin. Nutr., 1962, 11, 12.
- 4. Official Methods of Analysis, Association of official Analytical Chemists, Washington, D. C. 11th Ed., 1970.
- 5. McKenzie, H. A. and Wallace, H. S., The Kjeldahl determination of nitrogen. A critical study of digestion conditions—temperature, catalyst and oxidising agents, *Aust. J. Chem.*, 1954, 7, 55.
- Horn, M. J., Jones, D. B. and Blum, A. E., Colorimetric determination of methionine in proteins and foods, *J. biol. Chem.*, 1946, 166, 313.
- Smith, A. M. and Agiza, A. H., Amino acids of several grasslands species, cereals and Brecken, J. Sci. Fd Agric., 1951, 2, 503.
- Rao, K. H. and Subramanian, N., Essential amino acid composition of commonly used Indian Pulses by paper chromatography, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1970, 7, 31.
- Block, R. J. and Mitchell, H. H., The correlation of amino acid composition of the proteins with their nutritive value, *Nutr. Rev.*, 1946. 16, 249.
- Dickman, S. R. and Bray, R. H., Colorimetric determination of phosphate, Ind. Engg. Chem. Anal. Ed. 1940, 12, 665.
- Hulme, A. C. and Narian, R., The ferricyanide method for the determination of reducing sugar and modification, *Biochem. J.*, 1931, 25, 1051.
- 12. Srinivasan, M., and Bhatia, I. S., Carbohydrates of Agave vera Cruz Mill., Biochem. J., 1953, 55, 286.
- Rathnaswamy, R., Veeraswamy, R. and Palaniswamy, G. A., Studies in red gram (*Cajanus cajan*) seed characters, cooking quality and protein content, *Madras agric. J.*, 1973, 60, 396.
- Manimekalai, G., Neelakantan, S. and Annappan, R. S., Chemical composition and cooking quality of some improved varieties of redgram dhal, *Madras agric. J.*, 1979, 66, 812.
- 15. Berkerova, S. A. and Lukina, V.G., Effect of bulk density and 1000 grain weight of some wheat varieties from the result of some wheat varieties from the south of Kazakhstan on yield of flour, Zernopererabaty vayushchaya i. Pishchevaya Promyshlnost, 1975, 5, 9.

- Simmonds, D. H., Barlow, K. K. and Wrigley, C. W., The biochemical basis of grain hardness in wheat, *Cereal Chem.*, 1973, 50, 553.
- 17. Khan, N. A. and Baker, B. F., The amino acid composition of some Pakistani pulses. J. Sci. Food Agric., 1957, 8, 301.
- Gupta, K and Wagle, D. S., Proximate composition and nutritive value of *Phaseolus mungoreous*, A cross between *Phaseolus mungo* and *Phaseolus aureus*, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1978, 15, 34.
- Maynard, L. A. and Leosli, J. K., Animal Nutrition, Tata McGraw Hill Publishing Co., New Delhi, India, 1975, 158.
- Gopalan, C., Ramasastri, B. V. and Balasubramanian, S. C., Nutritive value of Indian foods, National institute of Nutrition, Indian Council of Medical Research, Hyderabad, India, 1976, 63.
- Gupta, K. and Wagle, D. S., Changes in anti-nutritional factors during germination in *Phaseolus mungoreous*, A cross between *Phaseolus mungo* (M<sub>1-1</sub>) and *Phaseolus aureus* (T<sub>1</sub>) J. Food Sci., 1980, 45, 394.

#### BREAKAGE OF RICE DURING MILLING 4. EFFECT OF KERNEL CHALKINESS

In 10 rice varieties tested, chalkiness score and cracks in mature kernels were mutually correlated: more the chalkiness index, the more were the cracks, and vice versa. Kernel chalkiness thus predisposed the rice grain to easier cracking under field conditions, and hence indirectly to greater milling breakage. Chalkiness score of mature kernels also increased in field paddy as its harvest was delayed, which may be one reason why rice breakage increases with delayed harvest.

Numerous researchers have repeatedly mentioned in the literature that kernel chalkiness (in otherwise mature grains) is an important contributor to breakage of rice during milling. Yet no experimental evidence in support of this statement is available. On the contrary, Bhattacharya<sup>1</sup> and Matthews et al.<sup>2</sup> could obtain no evidence in careful studies that chalky, but mature and uncracked grains in a sample broke more readily during milling than corresponding vitreous grains. Bhattacharya<sup>3</sup> in a recent review hypothesized one possibility. It had been noticed in this laboratory earlier that milled parboiled rice with an ungelatinized opaque core<sup>4</sup> as well as milled raw (mature) rice with chalky portions<sup>5</sup> cracked more readily when put in water than fully vitreous kernels. On this basis, it was hypothesized that varieties with chalky kernels could undergo greater cracking in the field and during drying than those with vitreous grains, and thus indirectly be subject to more breakage during milling.

To test this hypothesis, several varieties available in laboratory stock were analysed for cracks and chalkiness in their kernels. The samples were first shelled with a Satake laboratory rubber-roller sheller. Then, about 200 randomly selected, mature brown rice grains in duplicate were analysed for cracks with a modified microbiological colony counter as described earlier<sup>6</sup> as well as for chalkiness score as per the following score card:

% Kernel area chalky 0 1-20 >20 Score 0 3 9

The results (Table 1) confirmed that cracks and chalkiness score in mature rice kernels were mutually correlated: more the cracks, the more was chalkiness index, and *vice versa*. This was true in varieties of all sizes and shapes.

Meanwhile, it was noticed that chalkiness in mature rice kernels seemed to increase in a variety as its harvest was delayed. To confirm this, seven paddy varieties in the 1980 summer crop were harvested at several stages and shade dried as described earlier.<sup>6</sup> The samples were then shelled and analysed for kernel chalkiness. The results (Table 2) confirmed that as the day after flowering increased, the chalkiness index These results are in apparent also increased. contradiction to those of Kester et al.7 who found that kernel chalkiness decreased with progressive maturity of rice grains in the field. However, these workers classed only grains which were "at least half chalky" as chalky kernels, which means essentially immature grains; and immature grains naturally decreased with progressive maturity. The present work, on the other hand, concerns fully vitreous vs. even minutely chalky grains in the mature crop. In such crop, it is clearly shown that kernel chalkiness increases in rice with delay in harvest after attainment of maturity in the field.

TABLE 1. CHALKINESS SCORE OF CRACKED AND UNCRACKED RICE GRAINS

<b>.</b>			Chalkiness scor having cracks			ess score c cracks nur	e of grains numbering	
Variety	Length (mm)	L/B ratio*	0	1	>1			
Basmati37	0 6.1	3.4	2.0	5.3	8.0			
S705	6.1	3.0	0.3	2.3	4.7			
Intan	6.5	3.1	1.6	7.0	7.0			
Jenugudu	5.7	3.2	2.1	2.4	-			
S749	5.7	2.6	1.4	3.1	1.0			
Mahsuri	5.2	2.6	2.5	2.8	2.5			
Pankaj	6.1	2.4	2.2	3.6	4.0			
Ch2	6.0	2.3	3.0	4.0	4.0			
Bala	4.8	1.9	2.3	2.9	3.6			
C435	4.0	1.9	1.6	3.8	3.8			
*L, mean length and B, mean breadth of a milled grain.								

Variety	Days after flowering	Chalkiness score	Variety	Days after flowering	Chalkiness score
ES18	24	0.4	MR301	24	2.5
	28	0.7		29	4.6
	33	1.4		32	5.0
	38	2.0		36	5.4
	41	2.1		40	5.5
	45	2.7		27	2.4
Madhu	20	0.7	Bharani	32	3.3
	24	1.2		35	3.6
	29	1.5		39	3.8
	34	3.2		43	4.2
	37	3.5	MR365	32	0.4
	41	4.2		37	1.3
Mangala	27	4.2		40	2.2
-	31	4.9		44	2.2
	36	5.4		48	2.4
	41	6.3	IET4107	19	6.8
	44	6.6		23	7.4
	48	7.1		33	7.6
				40	8.0

TABLE 2. INCREASE IN CHALKINESS SCORE IN DIFFERENT VARIETIES OF RICE GRAINS WITH DAYS AFTER PLOWERING<sup>®</sup>

\*The relative increase appears to be more in varieties with low initial score than in those with high initial score. This is because of the score card chosen, wherein kernels having >20% of area chalky were given the maximum score of 9. Therefore, even though the chalky area went on increasing beyond 20\%, as it perceptively did in varieties with high initial score, the score could not increase proportionately.

Two conclusions that can be drawn from these data are: (1) While chalky rice kernels per se may not break more readily during milling than vitreous kernels, the former invariably undergo more cracking under field conditions than the latter. Varieties with more chalky grains are therefore, more prone to break during milling, for kernel chalkiness indirectly contributes to rice breakage through easier cracking. This finding provides a rational explanation to the persistent popular belief that chalky varieties break more during milling than non-chalky ones-although the assumption, that therefore, chalky grains per se are prone to break, is apparently unfounded. (2) Since delayed harvest increases kernel chalkiness, which renders the grain more prone to crack, this fact may be one reason why, as is well known<sup>3</sup>, rice breakage increases with delayed harvest.

Discipline of Rice and Pulse Technology Central Food Technological Research Institute, Mysore-570 013, India. Received 15 June 1931 Revised 11 September 1981

References

- 1. Bhattacharya. K. R., Breakage of rice during milling and effect of parboiling, Cereal Chem., 1969, 46, 478.
- Matthews, J., Abadie, T. J., Deobald, H. J. and Freeman, C. C., Relation between head rice yields and defective kernels in rough rice, *Rice J.*, 1970, 73(10), 6.
- 3. Bhattacharya, K. R., Breakage of rice during milling: a review, *Trop. Sci.*, 1980, 22, 255.
- Bhattacharya, K. R. and Subba Rao, P. V., Effect of processing conditions on quality of parboiled rice, *J. agric. Fd Chem.*, 1966, 14, 476.
- Bhattacharya, K. R. and Sowbhagya, C. M., Water uptake by rice during cooking, *Cereal Sci. Today*, 1971, 16, 420.
- Indudhara Swamy, Y. M. and Bhattacharya, K. R., Breakage of rice during milling. 1. Types of cracked and immature grains, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1982, 19, 106.
- Kester, E. B., Lukens, H. C., Ferrel, R. E., Mohammad, A. and Finfrock, D. C., Influence of maturity on properties of Western rices, *Cereal Chem.*, 1963, 40, 323.

#### EFFECT OF DEGUMMING ON KEEPING QUALITY AND REFINABILITY OF INDIGENOUS SOYBEAN OIL

Crude and degummed soybean oils obtained from *Kalitur* (indigenous black soybean) could be stored well for 210 and 120 days respectively. Storage showed no adverse effect on the refinability of these oils.

Indigenous cultivar of soybean with black seedcoat called *Kalitur* (Black soybean) is grown to the extent of 50,000 tonnes in Madhya Pradesh. Data on pilot plant processing by expelling of this variety were presented in an earlier paper<sup>1</sup>. Data on storage studies of expeller crude and degummed oils and their refinability are presented in this note.

Parameters studied are free fatty acids, peroxide value, iodine value, refining and bleaching performance according to AOCS methods<sup>2</sup> and Kreis colour test as described by Mehlenbacher<sup>3</sup>.

Crude oil was degummed for 30-45 min with 5 per cent water at  $75^{\circ}$ C. The crude and the degummed oils, having phosphatide content of 2.99 and 0.55 per cent respectively, were stored in closed tin containers and the samples were drawn from the same containers at intervals of 30 days for 360 days and analysed. At the end of 560 days, final samples were drawn and analysed. The oils were also refined initially and at the end of 560 days.

The variations observed during storage in free fatty acid (in the range of 1.5), iodine value and Lovibond colour (in the range of 50, Y+10R units in 0.635 cm cell) are not significant being within the limits of experimental errors. But according to peroxide

value, the storability of degummed oil would be 120 days, since by that time, there is an increase of 3 units (over initial 9). For crude oil, the keeping time limit is 210 days, the peroxide value having risen slightly to 7-8 from the initial 6.5. Consideration on the basis of Kreis colour (which is rather erratic) also points out towards the same time, limits for the shelf life of the degummed and crude soybean oils. While storage has no adverse effect on the refining performance, the colours of crude and degummed oils as well as refined and bleached oils from them are slightly darker at the end of 560 days of storage.

The authors are thankful to the Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Dethi for financing a post harvest technology scheme.

Oil Technological Research Institute,	T. Lakshminarayana
Anantapur-515 001, India.	G. Azeemoddin
Received 30 July 1981	D. Atchyuta Ramayya
Revised 16 October 1981	S. D. THIRUMALA RAO

#### References

- Surendranath, M. R., Shyam Prasad, J., Azeemoddin, G., Atchyuta Ramayya, D. and Thirumala Rao, S. D., Black soybean seed Part I. Preliminary pilot plant studies, J. Oil Technol. Ass., 1976, 8, 132.
- 2. Official and Tentative Methods, American Oil Chemists' Society, Chicago, IL, 3rd Ed. 1969.
- 3. Mehlenbacher, V. C., *The analysis of fats and oils*, The Garrard Press, Champaign, IL., 1960, 191.

#### QUANTIFICATION OF CHOLINESTERASE INHIBITION ON TLC PLATE FOR ESTIMATION OF FENITROTHION

A simple and sensitive TLC-enzymatic method is developed for determination of fenitrothion (O, O-dimethyl O-(3-methyl-4-nitrophenyl) phosphorothioate) as fenitrooxon (O, O-dimethyl O-(3-methyl-4-nitrophenyl phosphate) employing pig liver acetone powder as enzyme source. By this method, fenitrothion can be detected in amounts ranging from 5 to 50 ng.

TLC-enzymatic methods based on cholinesterase (ChE) inhibition technique were reported as simple and sensitive for detection of organophosphorus pesticides<sup>1,2</sup>. Various raw live sources of enzyme like livers of bovine, pig and sheep<sup>3,4</sup> human serum,<sup>5</sup> bee heads and drosphila heads<sup>6</sup> and peacock plasma<sup>7</sup> were employed for detection of organophosphorus pesticides. Nandakumar *et al.*<sup>8</sup>, reported a TLC-enzymatic method for determination of parathion employing raw rat liver as enzyme source. In these methods, the procurement and preparation of enzyme

suspension are cumbersome and thus delay estimation. Recently, the authors reported<sup>9-11</sup> colorimetric estimation of methyl parathion and dimethoate using liver acetone, powder because of its easy availability and instant use. Thus, it is more advantageous than live enzyme sources. In this investigation, attempts are made to develop an enzymatic method on TLC plate for rapid detection and determination of fenitrothion by using pig liver acetone powder as ChE source and p-nitrobenzene diazonium fluoroborate as chromogenic salt. By this, fenitrothion can be estimated as fenitrooxon within 1 hr and it can be used in residue analysis.

All chemicals used were of analytical grade. Fenitrothion (99%) obtained from Rallis India Ltd., Bombay, was used for preparing acetone solutions of various concentrations. Pig liver acetone powder (1%) was homogenised in ice cold distilled water and was used immediately as enzyme source. The solutions of 0.5% 1-naphthyl acetate and 0.4% p-nitrobenzene diazonium fluoroborate were prepared in acetone.

TLC plates (20  $\times$  10 cm) coated with 450  $\mu m$  layer of silica gel G were prepared as reported earlier<sup>8</sup> and desiccated before use.

Thin-layer chromatography: Different concentrations of pesticide standard solutions (1 to 10  $\mu$ 1) in acetone were spotted on dried TLC plate. The plate was exposed to evenly distributed bromine vapour<sup>8</sup> for complete oxidation of fenitrothion as fenitrooxon. The plate was removed and exposed to air for 5 min to evaporate the bromine vapour. Acetone: hexane (1:9) solvent was employed. After chromatographic run, the plate was dried. Pig liver acetone powder suspension was uniformly sprayed over the plate thoroughly wetting the gel. About 5 to 10 ml suspension is required for 20 × 10 cm TLC plate. The plate was kept in moist atmosphere at 37° c for 10 min and was sprayed with 1-naphthyl acetate

TABLE 1. RELATIONSHIP OF CHE INHIBITION WITH FENITROTHION CONCENTRATION AS DETERMINED BY AREA WEIGHT METHOD AND AREA MEASUREMENT METHOD

	Area we	eight method	Area meas	surement method
Fenitro- thion (ng)	Inhibition zone (mg)	ChE inhibition (%) Mean $\pm$ S. D.	Inhibition zone (sq. mm)	ChE inhibition (%) Mean $\pm$ S. D.
5	4	$7.60\pm0.26$	18	8.00 ± 0.14
10	7	13.46 $\pm$ 1.16	31	$13.80\pm0.62$
20	15	28.86 ± 0.95	78	32.11 ± 0.93
30	25	48.07 ± 2.15	108	48.00 ± 1.23
40	33	63.46 ± 3.83	148	66.73 ± 2.65
50	40	$76.92 \pm 3.50$	184	81.75 ± 2.25
Value	es are the	mean of 6 obse	ervations.	

Paddy sample	Fenitro- thion fortified	Feritrothion reco	overed by TLC- method*	Fenitro- thion recovered
•		Area wt. method	Area measure- ment method	by GLC**
(g)	(µg)	$(\mu g)$ Mean $\pm$ S. D.	$(\mu g)$ Mean $\pm$ S. D.	(µg)
50	5	4.80 <u>+</u> 1.00	4.65 ± 0.85	4.85
50	10	8.90 ± 0.95	8.75 <u>+</u> 0.90	9.55
50	20	18.50 ± 1.85	18.10 <u>+</u> 1.25	18.75
50	30	27.65 ± 2.25	$26.75 \pm 2.05$	27.50
50	50	46.35 ± 1.65	45.95 ± 3.25	46.35

TABLE 2. ESTIMATION OF FENITROTHION RESIDUES AS FENITROOXON IN FORTIFIED PADDY SAMPLES BY TLC-ENZYMATIC METHOD AND GAS LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

\*Values are the mean of 6 observations.

\*\*Values are average of duplicate observations.

in acetone and was again placed in moist atmosphere for 2 min. The plate was sprayed uniformly with p-nitrobenzene diazonium fluoroborate in acetone. The white spots or, orange background were marked.

Quantification of fenitrothion as fenitrooxon: Fenitrothion was estimated as fenitrooxon by both area weight method and area measurement methods as reported early.<sup>8</sup>

Residue estimation in fortified paddy samples: Paddy samples were fortified with fenitrothion and the residues were estimated as fenitrooxon following clean-up technique.<sup>4</sup>

Fenitrothion was estimated in the fortified samples after cleanup<sup>12</sup> by GLG employing Varian Aerograph series 1400 equipped with 6'  $\times$  1/8" i. d. Pyrex glass column packed with 5% OV-17 on 60-80 mesh Chromosorb W. nitrogen (25 ml/min) was used as carrier gas. Alkali flame ionization detector was used with hydrogen flow rate of 45 ml/min and air flow rate of 260 ml/min maintaining column, injector and detector temperatures at 130°C, 140°C and 170°C respectively at  $32 \times 10^{-12}$  range. The retention time for fenitrothion is 1.8 min.

Plots of amounts of fenitrothion as fenitrooxon vs ChE inhibition by both area weight and area measurement methods showed a straight line relationship (Table 1). From these standard curves, 5 to 50 ng fenitrothion can be estimated. Pig liver acetone as enzyme source is more advantageous in view of its ready availability, instant use and indefinite storage time at 0°C, unlike the rat liver which has to be procured from a live animal followed by isolation and the raw tissues cannot be stored for longer duration. Hence, this method is more advantageous than the method reported earlier.<sup>8</sup> Fenitrothion residues as fenitrooxon in fortified paddy samples were estimated by the present method and values are compared with the values obtained by GLC (Table 2) and these are comparable and the method was found to be suitable in residue analysis.

Authors are thankful to Rallis India Ltd., Bombay, for generous supply of fenitrothion sample. One of the authors (SUB) is grateful to CSIR, New Delhi for financial assistance.

Department of Zoology,	S. Udaya Bhaskar
Shri Venkateswara University,	N. V. NANDAKUMAR
Tirupathi-517 502, India.	
Infestation Control & Pesticides	G. S. Raju
Discipline, Central Food Technological	K. Visweswaraiah
Research Institute, Mysore-570 013,	S. K. MAJUMDER
India.	
Received 15 June 1981	
Revised 5 October 1981	

#### References

- 1. Mendoza C. E., Analysis of pesticides by thin-layer chromatographic enzyme inhibition technique, *Residue Rev.*, 1972, 43, 105.
- Mendoza C. E., Analysis of pesticides by thin-layer chromatographic enzyme inhibition technique Part II, *Residue Rev.*, 1974, 50, 43.
- Mendoza C. E. and Shields, J. B., Sensitivity of pig liver esterase in detecting twelve carbamate pesticides on thin-layer chromatograms, J. Chromatogr., 1970, 50, 92.
- Mendoza C. E. and Shields, J. B., Esterase specificity and sensitivity to organophosphorus and carbamate pesticides; factors affecting determination by thin-layer chromatography, J. Ass. off. anal. Chem., 1971, 54, 507.
- El-Rafai, A. and Hopkins, T. L., Thin-layer chromatography and cholinesterase detection of several phosphorothionoinsecticides and their oxygen analogs, J. agric. Fd Chem., 1965, 13, 477.
- Ernst, G. F., Pieterse, C. and Martens, L. J. F., Comparison of drosophila, rat liver and bee-head esterases in detecting residues of organophosphorus and carbamate pesticides in vegetables and fruits, J. Chromatogr., 1977, 133, 245.
- Guenther Voss, Cholinesterase inhibition auto-analysis of insecticidal organophosphates and carbamates, J. Ass. off. anal. Chem., 1969, 52, 1027.
- Nandakumar, N. V., Visweswaraiah, K. and Majumder, S. K., Thin-layer chromatography of parathion as paraoxon with cholinesterase inhibition detection., J. Ass. off. anal. Chem., 1976, 59, 641.
- Nandakumar, N. V. and Ramasundari, M., Colorimetric determination of methyl parathion and oxygen analog, J. Ass. off. anal. Chem., 1980, 63, 536.
- Udaya Bhaskar, S. and Nandakumar, N. V., Colorimetric determination of dimethoate or omethoate, *Talanta*, 1980, 27, 757.
- Nandakumar, N. V. and Udaya Bhaskar, S., Colorimetric determination of dimethoate by quantification of cholinesterase inhibition, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1980, 17, 153.
- Storherr, R. W., Ott, P. and Watts, R. R., General method for organophosphorus pesticide residues in non-fatty foods, J. Ass. off. aral. Chem., 1971, 54, 513.

## Nutrition and Food Processing: by H. G. Muller and G. Tobin, The Avi Publishing Co. Inc., Westport, Connecticut, 1980; pp. 302; Price: \$ 33.00.

The title of the book, Nutrition and Food Processing is some what misleading. It is more like a hand book on nutrition than a book on food processing and its nutrition implications. The book is divided into 14 chapters and deals with chemistry and function of nutrients and their evaluation, nutrient requirements, chemistry and nutritional aspects of various food groups, food additives and some food processing technologies like refining, refrigeration, heat treatment and dehydration. The authors have attempted to deal with the above aspects of food concisely and have attempted to present the latest information on the subjects discussed. However, discussion on nutritional diseases appear to be rather sketchy. On the other hand, detailed description of methodology given in chapter IV may, perhaps be of out of place in a book of this type. There are also several instances of misinformation and errors which the authors could have checked and corrected. Some of the glaring examples are:

Under Table 2.2, histidine is mentioned as essential for children while we know that it may be essential for only infants. On page 36, the word 'carotenoids' is used instead of carotenes, to describe pigments with provitamin A activity. Temperature correction for energy requirements discussed on page 56 was suggested by FAO in 1957, while in the 1973 recommendation, no temperature correction has been suggested.

NPR is described as Net Protein Retention, instead of Net Protein Ratio (page 86). The authors also have failed to discuss the recently suggested method of Relative Protein Value (RPV) for protein evaluation.

Chickpea is described as L. sativus, the legume responsible for lathyrism (page 148). Chickpea is *Cicer arietinum*, while L. sativus is kesari dal and the toxin present in L. sativus is BOAA and not BAPN. BAPN is present in L. odaratus.

Poor absorption of raw egg white is attributed to avidin which is reported to be present at 5 per cent level. The factor responsible for poor absorption is 'ovamucoid', the trypsin inhibitor and not avidin, the latter is responsible for causing biotin deficiency.

Except for the above omissions and errors, the book on the whole is well written containing a lot of useful and latest information on food and nutrition. The book, thus will be quite valuable to the students and teachers of nutrition. All those who are interested in the science of nutrition will find this a very useful book.

> B. S. NARASINGA RAO NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF NUTRITION, HYDERABAD.

The Analysis of Dietary Fibre in Food: by W. P. T. James and Olof Theander, Marcel Dekker Inc. New York, Basel, 1981; pp. 288; Price: \$ 35.00.

As a result of a meeting held to discuss the possible relation between different kinds and nutritional patterns of different communities, with specific emphasis on intake of dietary fibre (DF), a collaborative study was undertaken where common samples from different food groups were analysed for dietary fibre content using various methods and a meeting held in 1980 to discuss these results. The data obtained by the different groups of workers, form the subject matter of this book.

Research on dietary fibre is one of the important fields of study in recent years and this collaborative study was undertaken by pioneers and highly experienced persons in the field. Presentation by the different groups gives details of methodology employed, ary modifications effected to original methods and difficulties encountered in analysis. At the end of each paper, a short summary of discussion on the work has also been added.

The final review of the results of the various groups brings out the differences in the data and also the possible reasons for these differences. When the data were compared, values obtained by Sarthgate procedure showed large variations. This could be due to the small aliquots taken for analysis and also due to varying success with which the starch portion was removed. Differences in the values obtained by enzymatic procedures could be due to differences in the effect of degradation of the various enzymes used.

Gravimetric methods are rapid, inspite of the loss of soluble polysaccharides components. Good agreement was observed in the results reported by the groups who have employed the detergent procedures of Van Soest.

At the end, need for further work and cooperation from different groups has been stressed.

This book is an useful guide for all those who are

working in the fields of nutrition, food science, food technology, medicine etc. It serves as a source of reference for the methodology for the measurement of dietary fibre.

> KANTHA S. SHURPALEKAR C.F.T.R.I., Mysore.

Fundamentals of Food Chemistry: by W. Heimanm, AVI Technical Books Inc. U.S.A., 1980, pp. 344, Price: \$ 33.00.

This book is claimed to be an advanced survey of the principles of modern food chemistry aiming to demonstrate the interactions of food chemistry with analytical, organic and biological chemistry in relation to dietetic constituents, health, sickness and medicine.

Having the above goals in view, one wonders if justice can be done in the short spaces devoted to some of the topics. Thus Part 1. Nutrition, not only consists of one chapter but the chapter has only one page. Other examples are to be found in Part 3 of the book where four chapters have five or fewer pages.

Part 2 dealing with the major constituents of foods has been given sufficient space for a meaningful presentation. The presentation in these chapters is detailed and attempt has been made to integrate the organic chemistry of food constituents with their function in foods and biochemistry. The book in this respect is a worthwhile addition to the already available books on food chemistry in English. However, some omissions, errors and possibly poor translation from the original German text mar these chapters.

To give only a few examples, the write ups on optical activity (p. 31) and asparngine and glutamine are confusing. A few of the sentences with errors or bad constructions are—"Small concentrations of salts often increase the solubility (salting-out effect)", page 55. "Lysine is an indispensible essential amino acid" page 42. "Dry heating of hexoses alone or with a small amount of sodium or ammonium carbonate, yields results in caramelization....." page 149. "The chemical composition of cellulose has been mainly clarified by X-ray investigations." In Table 1, page 132, the isoelectric points for valine, threonine, aspargine, glutamine and ornithine are missing. Some printing errors are, L-glycerinaldehyde (p. 132), D-galabetose (p. 132), NaSo<sub>4</sub> (p. 142), celliose (p. 166) cystine (p. 43) and oxydation (p. 43).

> S. N. NIGAM C.F.T.R.I., Mysore.

Nutrition and Food Science-II: by Walter santos Nabuco Lopes, J. J. Barbosa, Dagoberto Chares and Jose Carlos Valente, Plenum Publishing Corporation, New York; 1980; pp. 950; Price: \$ 79.50.

The Proceedings of the Eleventh International Congress on Nutrition. organized by Brazilian Nutrition Society, held in Rio de Janerio, Brazil, from August 27 to September 1, 1978 have been published by Plenum Press, New York, in three volumes. The three volumes have been captioned as I Food and Nutrition Policies and Programmes, II Nutrition Education and Food Science & Technology and III Biochemical and Pathological Nutrition, respectively. Papers related to topics such as (a) animal and vegetable resources for human feeding, (b) food science and technology, (c) research in food and nutrition, and (d) nutrition education have been clubbed together into the second volume. The inclusion of nutrition education along with the subject of food science and technology appears to be somewhat odd, as the latter could have been put along with similar topics in Volume I.

While the printing, binding and cover designing of the book have been done well, the editing and proof reading part has been poorly done. There are numerous typographical errors throughout the book and occasionally new words have been introduced which are not seen normally in English usage. As the editors are all Brazilian scientists, their difficulty with English language is understandable.

This publication represents the latest research findings and thinking in the area of food and nutrition research education, policies and planning, etc. Hence it is a very useful publication and deserves a place in libraries concerned with these disciplines.

> P. G. TULPULE National Institute of Nutrition, Hyderabad.

Food Control in Action: by Ed. P. O. Dannis, J. R. Blanchfield and A. G. Ward, Allied Science Publishers Ltd., London; 1980; pp. 290; Price: £ 33.00.

Food control is a wide subject of interest to all those involved in food production, distribution, consumption and also to government agencies, enforcement authorities and standards organisations. It encompasses, besides scientific and technological factors, many procedural and institutional arrangements to ensure effective observance of food regulations by producers and distributors. In order to carry out meaningful food control, it is necessary to have extensive knowledge of the physical, chemical, biochemical, microbiological, nutritional and other characteristics of behaviour of foods. Besides, a thorough understanding of the principles and practices involved in the technology of manufacture, storage and distribution will be of invaluable help in evolving meaningful and practical specifications of raw materials, packaging materials and finished products. It is praise worthy that Institute of Food Science and Technology of the U. K. recognised the implications of the above concepts and pioneered the evolution of a specialised need oriented course on Food Control in 1978 in collaboration with the Royal Institute of Chemistry and the Institute of Biology. This publication based on a symposium held in July 1979 covers the principles and practice of total food control as applied to food manufacture and distribution.

In the first paper on 'Philosophy of Food Control', J. R. Blanchfield, analyses the reasons and framework for overall control in food manufacturing and distribution operations from the point of view of a food technologist. Food control is concerned with the technical measures taken before, during and after production to ensure that the products comply, not only with all the legal requirements, but also with many other requirements which the law does not and often cannot specify. The scope of food control is limited by four major constraints which include the quality requirements of the market, cost, legislation and organisation.

A series of interlinked papers in specified subjects assigned to various authors with a strict editorial briefing are bunched into four sections under the broad heading components, constraints, interfaces and practical applications.

In the first section on 'Components', three papers on the basis of food control have been included; the first on scientific basis, the next on technological basis and the last on methodological basis. Any attempt to measure the relationship between value and quality of food is the scientific basis of food control. A technological bias is a necessity to study these processes in detail, monitor the relationship between actual and specified performances and provide corrective action whenever there is a deviation. An effective food control operation will depend on a practical administrative system for communicating and defining product manufacturing and distribution standards. There are many methodologies available to aid this objective which have been reviewed.

Many 'Constraints' have been cited as factors affecting food control system in the second section.

These include quality requirements of the market, operating costs, constraints of legislation and organisational constraints. The impingement of the control system on other company functions such as purchasing, R & D, production and productivity and the distribution chain are dealt with in the third section on 'Interfaces'. There are four papers dealing with interfaces with product and process development, material purchasing, quality assurance, production and productivity and distribution and consumer. Though there is some overlapping of the areas covered by each paper on the whole, they bring out the practical aspects of the relationship between food control system and industrial management.

In the last section, the 'Control function' is described as is organised and operated on a day-to-day basis in companies representing four major branches of the food manufacturing industry. Experienced authors describe the practical aspects of integrated food control systems in such diverse sectors as canning, quick freezing of meat, fish products, break-fast cereals, biscuits and cake mixes and chocolate and sugar confectionery.

In his concluding remarks, presented separately as a paper, A. G. Ward has highlighted some few points which merit consideration by the fraternity of food scientists and technologists, national government and industry. The size, mode of operation, technical competence and skill in applying food control are not uniform and many firms get away without any meaningful food control system for which legislative pressure may be the only means of corrective action. The managements of food processing units also must be persuaded to reorient their personnel policy to ensure deployment of control personnel with proper qualifications in the subject.

The code of professional conduct being followed by Institute of Food Science and Technology of the United Kingdom is appended followed by subject index. The publication is highly informative and it puts together in one place the various aspects of quality control and quality assurance. The subject of food quality and its control in developing countries where food industry is in its infancy is all the more relevant and the experience of U. K. as brought out by this publication can be a valuable guide. I strongly recommend its reading by all those involved in the important function of food control.

> V. H. POTTY C.F.T.R.I., Mysore

#### NEWS:

#### INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON LEAF PROTEIN RESEARCH

The above Conference organised by the Society of Green Vegetation Research and co-sponsored by the Indian Universities and Institutes involved in leaf protein research will be held on 5-8 October 1982 at Marathwada University, Aurangabad, India. Five scientific sessions covering screening of vegetation for choice of raw materials, cultivation and agronomic studies for assessment of yields of leaf protein/technical and technological aspects of processing and production, nutritional and biochemical investigations for quality assessment and improvement, and the results of bulk

#### SIXTH WORLD CONGRESS OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

The above Congress is organised by the Institute of Food Science and Technology of Ireland under the sponsorship of the International Union of Food Science and Technology in Dublin, Ireland from 18-23 September, 1983.

The theme of the Congress will be-Food Science and Technology for Development-Welfare-Peace. The scientific programme will deal with the main food com-

#### VIIITH INTERNATIONAL SPECIALISED SYMPOSIUM ON YEASTS

The National Organising Committee of the VIIIth ISSY and the Association of Microbiologists of India are organising this symposium in 'Hotel Oberoi Towers', Bombay, India during January 24-28, 1983. The scientific programme includes---basic biology and generics; basic biochemistry; basic technology; special yeast systems; yeast culture collections, data banks & information transfer systems; ethanolic fermentations; brewproduction and utilisation studies have been planned.

Intending participants are requested to write to Dr. Narendra Singh, Organising Secretary, CFTRI, Mysore 570 013, India for further information and the paperabstract may be sent to the above address before july end.

British Commonwealth Foundation will sympathetically consider applications for travel grants from the citizens within the Commonwealth. Participants from developing countries may make requests for financial aid directly through their national authoritics for use of UNDP funds.

modities under the general headings-Production, Processing and Nutrition. The theme of the Congress will be developed in plenary papers, parallel sessions of invited papers, posters and seminars.

For details, please contact-

Secretariat, Sixth World Congress of Food Science and Technology, 44, Northumberland Road, DUBIIN 4, Ireland.

ing; wines; cider & serry; traditional fermentations; other alcoholic beverages; baking & baked products; food & feed yeasts; chemical feed stocks; and product spoilage & yeasts.

For more information, contact Dr. T. V. Subbiah, Convener, VIIIth ISSY, Alembic Chemical Works Co. Ltd., Baroda-390 003, India.

#### ERRATA

In the article "Kinetics of water vapour sorption by wheat flour from saturated I. atmosphere" by B. P. N. Singh, Maharaj Narain and Harpal Singh, this journal 1981, Vol. 18, No. 5, Page 203:

Equation 7, should read: 
$$W_e = \frac{W_n \cdot W_n + 2\varepsilon - (W_n + \varepsilon)^2}{W_n + W_n + 2\varepsilon - 2(W_n + \varepsilon)}$$

- II. In the article "Kinetics of moisture absorption by soy flour" by U. S. Shivhare, Maharaj Narain and B. P. N. Singh, this journal 1982, Vol. 19, No. 1, page 27: Equation 4 should read:  $W_e = \frac{W_n \cdot W_n + 2i - (W_n + i)^2}{W_n + W_n + 2i - 2(W_n + i)}$
- III. In the article "Insecticidal residue in vegetables obtained from soil treated with hexachlorocyclohexane" by N. G. K. Karanth, M. Jayaram and S. K. Majumder, this journal 1982, Vol. 19, No. 1, Page 15: Column 1, last line and column 2, line 12-'Rf values' should read 'R, values'.



mann

Publications of

## Food and Agriculture Organization

of the United Nations

FOOD AND NUTRITION A bi-annual review devoted to world development in food policies and nutrition 5.00 Annual subscription \$ \$ 15.00 AMINO-ACID CONTENT OF FOOD AND BIOLOGICAL DATA ON PROTEIN **GUIDE TO THE SAFE USE OF FOOD ADDITIVES** 4.50 \$ HANDBOOK ON HUMAN NUTRITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 3.75 MILK AND MILK PRODUCTS IN HUMAN NUTRITION S. K. Kon 3.25 PLANNING AND EVALUATION OF APPLIED NUTRITION PROGRAMMES M. C. Latham 5.25 LEARNING BETTER NUTRITION: A SECOND STUDY OF **APPROACHES / TECHNIQUES** J. A. S. Ritchie 7.50 **GUIDE TO CODEX MAXIMUM LIMITS FOR PESTICIDE RESIDUES** 9.00 **EVALUATION OF CERTAIN FOOD ADDITIVES:** 20th report of the Joint FAO/WHO 3.25 Expert Committee on Food Additives The present Good Offices Committee Conversion Rate is Rs. 9.60 to a US Dollar. Order from: **OXFORD BOOK AND STATIONERY CO.,** 

Scindia House,

17, Park Street,

NEW DELHI-110001 CALCUTTA-700016



## with Roche Vitamins

Vitamin Premixes containing Vitamin A and other vitamins like B1, B2, D, E can be made to suit your specific requirements. For further details regarding levels to be added, methods of incorporation etc., please contact the Sole Distributors : Voltas Limited.

Premixes can also be used in ; , Malted Milk Foods Confectionery Weaning Foods.

ROCHE PRODUCTS Li. 28, Tardeo Road, Bombay-34 WB

Manufactured by:

## **INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS**

- 1. Manuscripts of papers (*in triplicate*) should be typewritten in double space on one side of bond paper. The manuscripts should be complete and in final form, since only minor corrections are allowed at the proof stage. The paper submitted should not have been published or data communicated for publication anywhere else. Review papers are also accepted.
- 2. Short communications in the nature of Research Notes should clearly indicate the scope of the investigation and the salient features of the results.
- 3. Names of chemical compounds and not their formulae should be used in the text. Superscript and subscripts should be legibly and carefully placed. Foot notes especially for text should be avoided as far as possible.
- 4. Abstract: The abstract should indicate the principal findings of the paper. It should be about 200 words. It should be in such a form that abstracting periodicals can readily use it.
- 5. Tables: Tables as well as graphs, both representing the same set of data, should be avoided. Tables and figures should be numbered consecutively in Arabic numerals and should have brief titles. They should be typed on separate paper. Nil results should be indicated and distinguished clearly from absence of data, which is indicated by '--' sign. Tables should not have more than nine columns.
- 6. Illustrations: Graphs and other line drawings should be drawn in *Indian ink* on tracing paper or white drawing paper preferably art paper. The lettering should be in double the size of printed letters. For satisfactory reproduction, graphs and line drawings should be at least twice the printed size 16cms (ox axis) × 20cms (oy axis); photographs must be on glossy paper and must have good contrast; *three copies* should be sent.

- 7. Abbreviations of the titles of all scientific periodicals should strictly conform to those cited in the World List of Scientific Periodicals, Butterworths Scientific Publication, London, 1962.
- 8. **References:** Names of all the authors along with title of the paper should be cited completely in each reference. Abbreviations such as *et al.*, *ibid. idem*, should be avoided.

The list of references should be included at the end of the article in serial order and the respective serial number should be indicated in the text as superscript.

Citation of references in the list should be in the following manner:

- (a) Research Paper: Jadhav, S. S. and Kulkarni, P. R., Presser amines in foods, J. Fd Sci. Technol., 1981, 18, 156.
- (b) Book: Venkataraman, K., The Chemistry of Synthetic Dyes, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1952, Vol. II, 966.
- (c) References to article in a book: Joshi, S. V., in the Chemistry of Synthetic Dyes, by Venkataraman, K., Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1952, Vol. II, 966.
- (d) Proceedings, Conferences and Symposia Papers: Nambudiri, E. S. and Lewis, Y. S., Cocoa in confectionery, Proceedings of the Symposium on the Status and Prospects of the Confectionery Industry in India, Mysore, May 1979, 27.
- (e) Thesis: Sathyanarayan, Y., Phytosociological Studies on the Calcicolous Plants of Bombay, 1953, Ph.D. Thesis, Bombay University.
- (f) Unpublished Work: Rao, G., unpublished, Central Food Technological Research Institute Mysore, India.

 $\mathbf{\hat{u}} \mathbf{\hat{u}} \mathbf{\hat{v}} \mathbf{\hat{$ 

9. Consult the latest copy of the Journal for guidance.

## JOURNAL OF FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Vol. 19 No. 4

Contents of forthcoming issue

July/August 1982

#### **Research Papers**

QUALITY CHARACTERISTICS OF SOME PROMISING TRITICALE STRAINS OF INDIA K. L. Sehgal, K. S. Sekhon. S. K. Gupta and K. S. Gill

FOOD VALUE OF DEHYDRATED ROOT TUBERS OF SELECTED GENOTYPES OF WINGED BEAN (*PSOPHOCARPUS TETRAGONOLOBUS* (L) DC)

M. P. Vaidehi, M. L. Annapurna, M. R. Gururaja Rao and C. N. Uma

EVALUATION OF TOFU AND ITS PRODUCTS PREPARED FROM SOYMILK AND COMBI-NATION WITH SUNFLOWER SEED MILK AND SKIM MILK K. Vijavalakshmi and M. P. Vaidehi

DETERMINATION OF DIMETHOATE & ITS RESIDUES IN FOODS AND FORMULATIONS BY GEL ELECTROPHORESIS

J. Chakrabarti, D. Mojumder and B. R. Roy

A COMPARATIVE STUDY ON THE EFFECT OF GIBBERELLIC ACID. ETHREL AND ETHYLENE CHLORIDE ON POTATO (SOLANUM TUBEROSUM LINN) SPROUTING M. V. Rama and P. Narasimham

STUDIES ON NIGER (GUIZOTIA ABYSSINICA) SEED OIL

Nasirullah, T. Mallika, S. Rajalakshmi, K. S. Pashupathi, K. N. Ankaiah, S. Vibhakar, M. N. Krishnamurthy K. V. Nagaraja, and O. P. Kapur

EFFECT OF FEEDING A COMMONLY USED NONPERMITTED FOOD COLOUR ORANGE II ON THE HAEMATOLOGICAL VALUES OF MUS MUSCULUS O. Prasad. and P. B. Rastogi

EQUILIBRIUM MOISTURE CONTENT OF SOME FLOURS Vijay Pratap, B. P. N. Singh and Maharaj Narain

#### **Research Notes**

PREPARATION AND KEEPING QUALITY OF PICKLED QUAIL MEAT R. P. Singh, B. Panda and S. B. Kulshrestha

USE OF RICE GERM IN THE COMMON FOOD PREPARATIONS B. S. Vasan and K. Kousalya

BIOCHEMICAL CHANGES DUE TO WEEVIL (CYCLAS FORMICARIUS FAB.) FEEDING ON SWEET POTATO

G Padmaja and P. Rajamma

EFFECT OF N. P AND K ON THE PHYSICO-CHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF SAPOTA (ACHRAS SAPOTA LINN)

S. M. Durrani, V. K. Patil. B.A. Kadam and D. M. Khedkar

COTTON SEED OIL AND GROUNDNUT OIL MIXTURES AS COOKING MEDIA J. G. Bhatt and K. N. Indira Kutty

CARACTER CONTRACTOR CONT

STUDIES ON THE FREPARATION. QUALITY AND STORAGE OF INTERMEDIATE MOISTURE (IM) CARROT PRESERVE *Vijay Sethi and J. C. Anand* 

Printed and Published by Dr. P. Narasimbam, Secretary AFST (India), CFTRI, Mysore-570013, at Sharada Press, Mangalore-575001.